Rationality of Limiting η -Invariants of Collapsed 3-Manifolds

A Dissertation Presented

by

Xiaochun Rong

to

The Graduate School

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in Mathematics

State University of New York

at

 ${\bf Stony\ Brook}$

August 1990

State University of New York at Stony Brook The Graduate School Xiaochun Rong

We, the dissertation committee for the above candidate for the Doctor of Philosophy degree, hereby recommend acceptance of this dissertation.

Jeff Cheeger, Professor of Mathematics
Dissertation Director

Chih-Han Sah, Professor of Mathematics
Chairman of Defense

Michael Anderson, Professor of Mathematics

Warren Siegel, Professor of Institute for Theoretical Physics
Outside Member

This dissertation is accepted by the Graduate School.

Graduate School

Abstract of Dissertation Rationality of Limiting η -Invariants of Collapsed 3-Manifolds

by

Xiaochun Rong

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Mathematics

State University of New York at Stony Brook

1990

We study the topological aspects of a sufficiently collapsed 3-manifold with bounded covering geometry. Based on the recent work of Cheeger and Gromov on collapsing Riemannian manifolds and F-structure theory, we find the existence of injective F-structures on such manifolds.

As an application, we prove a Cheeger and Gromov conjecture on rationality of limiting η -invariants associated to a volume collapse with bounded covering geometry in the 3-dimensional case. Another application is that we are able to give an explicite residue formula for computing the limiting η invariants in terms of the information derived from an injective F-structure. We also discuss the uniqueness of injective F-structures and obtain a finiteness result on limiting $\eta\text{-invariants}.$

To my parents and Bin

Contents

	Ack	nowledgements	vi
	Inti	roduction	1
1	Rationality of Limiting η -invariants of 3-manifolds		11
	1.1	Collapsing and F-structures	11
	1.2	Proof of Rationality of Limiting η -invariants Modulo §1.3	
		and §1.6	21
	1.3	Collapsed 3-Manifolds and Injective T-structures	25
	1.4	Uniqueness of Injective F-structures on 3-manifolds	41
	1.5	Further Discussion	46
	1.6	Filling 3-manifolds via Equivariant Plumbings	49
2	Computation of Limiting η -invariants in Dimension 3		57
	2.1	Residue Formula of Limiting η -invariants in 3-dimension	57
	2.2	A finiteness Result for Limiting η -Invariants	76
3	Bounded Good Choppings		80
	3.1	Bounded Good Choppings	80
	3.2	Some Progress on Conjecture II	86

Acknowledgments

The author would like to take this opportunity to express, first and foremost, deep sincere gratitute to his research advisor, Professor Jeff Cheeger, for his patience, his inspiring guidance, his encouragement, being a constant source and for his kind help beyond the study of mathematics all the way through the preparation of the dissertation.

For their generous help, my heartful thanks also go to Professors Michael Anderson, Bernard Maskit and Chin-Han Sah. And I am indebted to the entire faculty and staff of the Mathematics Department of SUNY at Stony Brook for providing academic support and personal concern.

For additional personal assistance, I am thankful for the many friends who helped along the way. In particular, I have enjoyed all the mathematical conversations, great or small, with H. Chen, X. Dai, G. Gong, Z. Liu, Z. Shen, G. Wei, G. Yu and S. Zhu.

Introduction

In this thesis, we study the rationality of limiting η - invariants for collapsed Riemannian manifolds. These were defined and previously studied in [CG2]. We prove a conjecture of Cheeger and Gromov (see below) in the 3-dimensional case.

Let (M,g) be an n-dimensional complete Riemannian manifold with bounded sectional curvature, $|K| \leq 1$. Let $\alpha(g)$ denote one of the following geometric quantities associated to g: the upper bound on the injectivity radii; the volume of M; or the diameter of M. If α is sufficiently small relative to the sectional curvature, we will say that $\alpha(g)$ is sufficiently collapsed. If M admits a family of metrics $\{g_{\delta}\}$ so that the family $\{\alpha(g_{\delta})\}$ converges to zero as $\delta \to 0$, one says that M admits an α -collapse.

Understanding the interplay between the collapsing geometry and the topology of M has been very fruitful in recent years. This can be viewed as studying the questions complimentary to those of controlling the topology by putting bounds on certain geometric quantities (for instance, Cheeger's finiteness theorem [Ch]). The basic questions are:

- 1) What kind of structures and invariants can be attached to a sufficiently α -collapsed manifold?
 - 2) Does a sufficiently α -collapsed manifold imply an α -collapse?

Starting with [Gr1], there has been considerable progress in this field; for instance, Gromov's almost flat manifolds ([Gr1]) for sufficiently small di-

ameters, the F-structure theory for uniformly small injectivity radii ([CG3], [CG4]) and the bundle structure theorems for manifolds which collapse to a manifold of lower dimension ([Fu1], [Fu2]) and more recently, the Nilstructure theorem ([CFG]).

Important progress has been made, concerning the implication of a volume collapse, in the work of Cheeger and Gromov in [CG1], [CG2] and [CG5]. There, they gave generalizations of Gauss-Bonnet theory to open manifolds of bounded sectional curvature and finite volume (note that such manifolds have their volume collapsed at infinity).

A volume collapse $\{g_{\delta}\}$ with bounded curvature is said to have bounded covering geometry (BCG) if the pull-back metrics of the family $\{g_{\delta}\}$ on the universal covering of M have a uniform lower bound on their injectivity radii.

Let N be a compact oriented (4k-1)-manifold. Consider the η -invariant of N in the sense of Atiyah, Patodi and Singer ([APS]). Cheeger and Gromov [CG2] proved that the limit of η -invariants with respect to a volume collapse with BCG exists and is a topological invariant (i.e., it does not depend on the specific collapsing sequence of metrics). We call this limit the limiting η -invariant and denote it by $\eta_{(2)}(N)$. Cheeger and Gromov made the following conjecture.

Conjecture I: The limiting η -invariant $\eta_{(2)}(N)$ is a rational number.

The difficulty in proving Conjecture I stems from the fact that the metrics in a given volume collapse with BCG may not be obviously related

to one another. In addition, it is very difficult to compute the η -invariant explicitly except in circumstances which are special in one way or another. In this thesis, we prove Conjecture I for 3-manifolds.

Theorem, A. Let N be a compact oriented 3-manifold. Suppose N admits a volume collapse with BCG, then the limiting η -invariant $\eta_{(2)}(N)$ is a rational number.

Our approach to Theorem A is to show that sufficiently collapsed 3-manifolds with BCG admit a certain topological structure, the injective F-structure. Roughly an F-structure can be thought of as a family of local torus actions satisfying a certain consistency condition. It was introduced in [CG3]. An F-structure partitions the underlying manifold into orbits. An injective F-structure is a F-structure satisfying the condition that the fundamental group of each orbit injects into the fundamental group of the total space. We will prove

Theorem B. There exists a constant $\epsilon > 0$ such that if a compact 3-manifold N admits a Riemannian metric g satisfying:

- (i) $|K_g(N)| \le 1$
- (ii) $Injrad(N,g) < \epsilon$
- (iii) $\widetilde{geo}(N,g) \ge 1$ (BCG)

then either N admits an injective F-structure or N (possibly some doubling cover of it) is diffeomorphic to a lens space. In particular, a compact 3-manifold N admits a volume collapse with BCG if and only if N admits an

An F-structure is said to be polarized, if the local orbits have the same dimension as the local group which acts. We observe that when specialized to the case of an injective F-structure the volume collapse constructed using a polarized F-structure as in [CG3] has BCG. This together with Theorem B implies that an injective F-structure on a 3-manifold fully reflects the volume collapse with BCG. A consequence of this is that one can compute $\eta_{(2)}(N)$ with respect to a volume collapse compatible with an injective F-structure (in general, the limiting η -invariant associated to a volume collapse compatible with a polarized F-structure \mathcal{F} is called the limiting η -invariant associated to \mathcal{F} and is denoted by $\eta(N,\mathcal{F})$. $\eta(N,\mathcal{F})$ is independent of invariant volume collapse with or without BCG). By filling in a compact 4-manifold M and extending the injective F-structure to M by using the so-called equivariant plumbing technique, the residue theory for the secondary characteristic classes as developed in [Ya] implies the rationality of $\eta(N,\mathcal{F})$ and thus the rationality of $\eta_{(2)}(N)$.

In proving Theorem B our starting point is the result obtained in [CG4]. There Cheeger and Gromov associate an F-structure \mathcal{F}_g (topological structure) to a sufficiently injectivity radius collapsed metric g. \mathcal{F}_g is constructed on the scale of small injectivity radius of the manifold, priori, it reflects neither small volume nor BCG. Using some theorems from 3-dimensional topology and some property of \mathcal{F}_g which depends on BCG, we find the existence of an injective F-structure satisfying the BCG condition. Note that the existence of an injective F-structure may not be deduced from the

geometrical construction in [CG4] (also see example 7).

We also disuss the uniqueness of injective F-structures on a 3-manifold. Two injective F-structures on a 3-manifold are said to be weakly isomorphic, if they are different only on a saturated area which is homeomorphic to $T^2 \times I$ (see Definition 9). Based on the classification theorem for graph manifolds obtained in [Wa1] and [Wa2], we obtain the following.

Theorem C. Let N be a closed orintable 3-manifold which is not homeomorphic to either $S^2 \times S^1$ or a nilmanifold. Suppose N admits an injective T-structure \mathcal{F} . Then \mathcal{F} is unique up to weak isomorphism.

From our approach to Theorem A, not only does one get the rationality of the limiting η -invariant, but one can compute explicitly the value $\eta_{(2)}(N)$ and see its topological meaning in the 3-dimensional case.

In the second part of this thesis, we give the explicit residue formula for $\eta_{(2)}(N)$ in terms of topological data derived from the injective F-structure (see Theorem 11). Theorem C implies that except for a few cases such a residue formula is intrinsic in a certain sense. For instance, we express $\eta_{(2)}(N)$ for N an injective Seifert manifold in terms of Seifert invariants (we refer to [Or] for Seifert manifolds).

Theorem D. Let $N = \{b; (o, g); (\alpha_1, \beta_1), ..., (\alpha_r, \beta_r)\}$ be the Seifert invariant of an injective Seifert manifold N. Then

$$\eta_{(2)}(N) = -\sum_{i=1}^{r} s_i + \epsilon(b,r) + \frac{1}{3}(b+r) + \frac{1}{3}\sum_{i=1}^{r}\sum_{j=1}^{s_i} b_{ij} + \frac{1}{3}\sum_{i=1}^{r}\frac{\alpha_{i,s_{i-1}}}{\alpha_i} \quad (.1)$$

where $\frac{\alpha_i}{\alpha_i - \beta_i} = [b_{i,1}, ..., b_{i,s_i}]$ is the continued fraction $(b_{i,j} \geq 2)$, $\alpha_{i,j} = b_{i,j}\alpha_{i,j-1} - \alpha_{i,j-2}$; $\alpha_{i,0} = 1$, $\alpha_{i,1} = b_{i,1}$ and

$$\epsilon(b,r) = \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} -1 & if \ b+r>0 \\ +1 & if \ b+r\leq 0. \end{array} \right.$$

A consequence of Theorem D is that the invariants $\eta_{(2)}(N)$ can take any rational number in 3-dimension. However, using Gromov's pre-compactness theorem, the result in [Fu2] and Theorem D, we prove a finiteness result for limiting η -invarants as follows:

Theorem E. For a real number D > 0, let $\mathcal{M}^3(D)$ be the collection of closed orientable 3-manifolds which admit volume collapses with BCG for which the diameters stay bounded by D. Then $\{\eta_{(2)}(N) \mod Z | N \in \mathcal{M}^3(D)\}$ is a finite set.

Note that $\mathcal{M}^3(D)$ contains infinitely many diffeomorphic types for any D > 0. For instance, 3-dimensional nilmanifolds.

The result in the last part of this thesis is about a bounded version of the main result in [CG5]. We will use this result to study rationality of geometric signatures for open manifolds (see below). First, let us recall the following.

Theorem 12([CG5]) Let M^n be a complete manifold with bounded sectional curvature, $|K| \leq 1$. Given $X \subset M^n, 0 < r \leq 1$, there is a sub-

manifold U^n with smooth boundary ∂U^n such that for some constant c(n) depending on n,

$$X \subset U^n \subset T_r(X)$$

$$Vol(\partial U) \le c(n)Vol(T_r(X))r^{-1}$$

$$||II_{\partial U}|| \le c(n)r^{-1}$$

Moreover U^n can be chosen to be invariant under I(r,X), where I(r,X) denotes the group of isometries of $T_r(X)$ which fix X.

We show the following fact:

Theorem F. Under the same assumptions as in Theorem 12. Let $D = diam(X) = sup\{dist(x,y)| \ x,y \in X\}$. Then there exists a constant, c(n,r,D), depending on n, r and D, such that

$$diam(\partial U) \le c(n, r, D).$$

An immediate consequence of Theorem F is what can be viewed a bounded version of Cheeger and Gromov's good chopping theorem (see Theorem 14).

In fact, our results in this thesis can be further exploited to prove a Cheeger and Gromov conjecture on rationality of geometric signatures. We now explain this.

By the work of Cheeger and Gromov, the *Gauss-Bonnet-Chern theorem* has been extended to complete manifolds of bounded sectional curvature and finite volume ([CG1] and [CG2]). They considered the *geometric Euler*

numbers and the geometric signatures of such manifolds. These are defined as the integrals of the Euler form and the signature form on these manifolds. (Note that examples show that the geometric signatures of a 4k- manifold can be an arbitrary real number in general.) They proved that, under the assumption that the metrics have bounded covering geometry over a neighborhood of infinity (denoted by $\widetilde{geo}_{\infty}(M) \geq 1$), the geometric Euler number is a homotopy invariant and the geometric signature is a proper homotopy invariant. More precisely, they are equal to the L_2 -Euler number and L_2 -signature, denoted by $\chi_{(2)}(M)$ and $\sigma_{(2)}(M)$ respectively. Using the so-called good chopping technique ([CG5]), Cheeger and Gromov proved that the geometric Euler numbers are always integers (without assuming BCG). Furthermore they made the following conjecture.

Conjecture II: $\sigma_{(2)}(M)$ is a rational number.

It turns out that using Theorem A, Theorem E, Theorem 14 and the results in [CFG], we can prove Conjecture II for 4-manifolds under an additional assumption that the manifolds have finite diameters at infinity. A complete manifold M is said to has finite diameter at infinity, if there is point $p \in M$ so that $\sup_{r>0} \{\sum_{\alpha} diam((T_1(\partial B_r(p)))_{\alpha})\} < \infty$, where the sume runs over all components of the 1-tubular neighborhood of the matric sphere $\partial B_r(p)$. We will only give the outline of the proof in §3.2. The detailed argument will appear elsewhere.

The thesis is organized as follows.

In §1.1, we briefly review the results in [CG3], [CG4], [Fu1] and [Fu2]

which we shall use in the sequel. We also introduce injective F-structures and show that a volume collapse compatible with a polarized F-structure \mathcal{F} has BCG if and only if \mathcal{F} is injective (Theorem 5).

In §1.2, we give a quick proof of Theorem A by assuming Theorem B (proved in §1.3) and a result from §1.6. Some readers may wish to read §1.3 and §1.6 before reading §1.4 and §1.5.

In §1.3 we first identify the collapsed 3-manifolds as graph manifolds in general, and the collapsed 3-manifolds with bounded diameters as Seifert manifolds and solvable manifolds up to a double covering (Propositions 4 and 5). Then we give the characterization of injective F-structures on 3-manifolds (Theorem 8). Furthermore, we give a sufficient and necessary condition which guarentees that a polarized F-structure which can be modified to be injective (Theorem 9). Based on this we prove Theorem B.

In §1.4, we prove Theorem C.

In §1.5, we describe the idea of an alternative proof of that a limiting η -invariant is a topological invariant in dimension 3. This uses mainly Theorem A, B and C (note that this is totally different from the one given in [CG2]).

Given a pair (N, \mathcal{F}) , we fill in N with a compact 4-manifold M and extend the polarized F-structure of N to M by using the invariant plumbing technique (Theorem 10). This is accomplished in §1.6.

Section §2.1 is devoted to explicit residue formulas for $\eta_{(2)}(N)$. We carry out the general residue theory of [Ya] in our special circumstance. Theorem D is proved and the general residue formula is given (Theorem 11).

Theorem E is proved in §2.2.

In $\S 3.1$ we prove Theorem F.

Finally in §3.2 we describe the outline of our approach to Conjecture II in 4-dimensional case.

Chapter 1

Rationality of Limiting η-invariants of 3-manifolds

1.1 Collapsing and F-structures

In this section we will review the fundamental results on collapsed Riemannian manifolds and F-structures obtained in [CG3], [CG4], [Fu1] and [Fu2]. Then we will discuss some basic properties of injective F-structures.

Let M be a manifold. A sequence of complete Riemannian metrics $\{g_i\}$ on M is said to determine an injectivity radius (or volume) collapse, if $\{g_i\}$

satisfies the conditions

- (i) $|K_g(M)| \leq 1$,
- (ii) $\lim_{i\to\infty} \sup\{InjRad(x,g_i)| \ x\in M\} = 0 \ (or \lim_{i\to\infty} Vol(M,g_i) = 0).$

A volume collapse $\{g_i\}$ is said to have bounded diameter, if $diam(M, g_i) \le D$ for some constant D > 0.

A volume collapse $\{g_i\}$ is said to have BCG, if the pull back metrics of $\{g_i\}$ on the universal covering of M have a lower bound (say at least 1) on the injectivity radius.

The topological aspect of collapsing phenomena on a manifold M is to a large extent captured by the so-called F-structures which were first introduced in [CG3].

Definition 1 Let M be C^{∞} manifold. An F-structure \mathcal{F} on M stands for $\{(\tilde{U}_i, U_i, T^{k_i}, \phi_i, \psi_i)\}$ (called an atlas for \mathcal{F}) such that,

- (i) $\{U_i\}$ is a locally finite open cover of M,
- (ii) $\pi_i: \tilde{U}_i \to U_i$ is a finite Galois covering with Galois (deck transformation) $group = G_i$.
- (iii) T^{k_i} is a k_i -dimensional torus and $\phi_i: T^{k_i} \to Diff(\tilde{U}_i)$ is an effective and smooth action,

(iv) $\psi_i:G_i \to Aut(T^{k_i})$ is a homomorphism satisfying

$$g_i(\phi_i(\gamma_i)(x)) = \phi_i((\psi_i(g_i)(\gamma_i))(g_ix))$$

for each $g_i \in G_i, \gamma_i \in T^{k_i}$ and $x \in \tilde{U}_i$,

(v) if $U_i \cap U_j \neq \emptyset$, then there is a common covering V_{ij} of $\pi_i^{-1}(U_i \cap U_j)$ and $\pi_j^{-1}(U_j \cap U_j)$ so that the lifting actions of T^{k_i} and T^{k_j} on V_{ij} commute.

Remark 1 In view of (iv) in Definition 1, the orbits of the local action ϕ_i on U_i are well defined. By (v) in Definition 1, the orbits of \mathcal{F} at the point $x \in M$ are defined as the union of all the orbits of ϕ_i through x. The rank of \mathcal{F} at $x \in M$ is defined as the dimension of the orbit through x. \mathcal{F} has positive rank, if all orbits of \mathcal{F} have positive dimensions.

Definition 2 A T-structure on M is an F-structure such that we can choose $\tilde{U}_i = U_i$ for all i as in Definition 1.

Definition 3 An F-structure \mathcal{F} is called pure, if for all $i, j, k_i = k_j$. \mathcal{F} is called polarized, if the local action ϕ_i has finite isotropy group at all points of \tilde{U}_i .

Definition 4 A polarization of \mathcal{F} is a collection of connected subgroups $H_i \subset T^{k_i}$ such that the dimension of each H_i -orbit is equal to $\dim H_i$. If H_i is a compact subgroup of T^{k_i} for all i, we call the polarization a polarized substructure of \mathcal{F} .

Definition 5 A T-structure $\mathcal{F} = \{(U_i, T^{k_i}, \phi_i)\}$ is isomorphic to the T-structure $\mathcal{F}' = \{(U_i', T^{k_i}, \phi_i')\}$, if there is a diffeomorphism ϕ of N such that (U_i, T^{k_i}, ϕ_i) is isomorphic to (U_i', T^{k_i}, ϕ_i') under the restriction of ϕ for all i.

The relations between positive rank F-structures and the injectivity radius collapse on a manifold M is given in the following theorems.

Theorem 1 ([CG3]) Let (M,g) be a complete n-manifold with $|K| \leq 1$. There exists a constant c(n) depending only on n, so that if the injectivity radii are smaller than c(n) everywhere on M, then M admits a positive rank F-structure \mathcal{F}_g which is almost compatible with the metric g. Conversely, suppose M admits a positive rank F-structure. Then one is able to construct an invariant injective radius collapse.

If a manifold M admits a polarized F-structure, then one can obtain a volume collapse.

Theorem 2 ([CG4]) (1) Let M be a manifold and \mathcal{F} be a polarized Fstructure of M. Then M admits an invariant volume collapse.

(2) Suppose M admits a polarized F-structure F outside a compact subset C of M, then M admits a complete metric g with bounded sectional curvature, finite volume and compatible with F.

Remark 2 The converse of Theorem 2 may not be true in general. In fact, an affirmative answer would solve an open question on vanishing minimal volume (see [Gr2]).

The next two theorems are not needed in proving Theorem A but only in proving Proposition 5 in §1.3 and Theorem E in §2.2. Some readers may omit them on the first reading.

Theorem 3 ([Fu2]) Let M_i be a sequence of closed n-manifolds satisfying the following conditions:

- $(i) |K(M_i)| \leq 1$
- (ii) $diam(M_i) \leq D$.

Assume there exists a metric space Y such that $\lim_{i\to+\infty} d_H(M_i,Y)=0$. Then we have the following: There exists a smooth manifold N with a $C^{1,\alpha}$ -metric g_N , on which there is a smooth and isometric action of the orthogonal group O(n) such that

- (1) Y is isometric to N/O(n),
- (2) For each $p \in N$, the isotropy group is an extension of a torus T^k by a finite group.

Theorem 4 ([F2]) Under the same assumption as in Proposition 3, for sufficiently large i, there exists maps $f_i: M_i \to Y$ and $\tilde{f}_i: FM_i \to N$ satisfying:

- (1) \tilde{f}_i is a fibration with fiber infranilmanifold $\approx N_i/\Lambda$.
- (2) The structure group is contained in

$$\frac{CentN_i}{CentN_i\cap\Lambda}\propto Aut\Lambda$$

(3) \tilde{f}_i is an almost Riemannian submersion. In other words, for each $V \in TM_i$ perpendicular to the fiber of \tilde{f}_i , we have

$$e^{-o(i)} < \frac{|\tilde{f}_{i*}(V)|}{|V|} < e^{o(i)}$$

where o(i) satisfies $\lim_{i\to\infty} o(i) = 0$.

(4) The following diagram commutes:

$$f_i$$
 $FM_i \longrightarrow N$
 $\pi_i \downarrow \qquad \qquad \pi_i \downarrow$
 f_i
 $M_i \longrightarrow Y = N/O(n)$

Note that (2) of Theorem 4 implies that, for sufficiently large i, N_i admits a pure positive rank F-structure which is given by the projection of structure group in (2). Note that in general such pure F-structure is not polarized.

For examples of F-structures we refer to [CG3], [CG4] and [Fu3].

To study a volume collapse with BCG, we introduce the injectivity of an F-structure as follows.

Definition 6 Let $\mathcal{F} = \{(\tilde{U}_i, U_i, T^{k_i}, \phi_i, \psi_i)\}$ be a positive rank F-structure of N. For any $x \in N$ and $(\tilde{U}_{i_0}, U_{i_0}, T^{k_{i_0}}, \phi_{i_0}, \psi_{i_0}) \supset \mathcal{O}_x$ (dim $(\mathcal{O}_x) = k_{i_0}$), consider the following diagram:

$$\begin{array}{ccc}
\phi_{i_0} \\
(T^{k_{i_0}}, e) & \longrightarrow & (\tilde{U}_{i_0}, \tilde{x}) \\
\tilde{\phi}_{i_0} = \pi \circ \phi_{i_0} & \searrow & \downarrow \pi \\
& & (U_{i_0}, x) \subset (N, x).
\end{array}$$

 \mathcal{F} is called injective if the induced map $(\tilde{\phi}_{i_0})_*: \pi_1(T^{k_{i_0}}, e) \to \pi_1(N, x)$ is injective.

Remark 3 The injective F-structure is to some degree a generalization of an injective torus action studied in [CR1], [CR2], and [LR].

Injective F-structures are polarized. The basic topological feature of an injective F-structure is the local splitting result for its universal covering space.

Lemma 1 Let \mathcal{F} be an injective F-structure of M, let $\pi: \tilde{M} \to M$ be the universal covering. For any $x \in M$ there exists an invariant tubular neighborhood U of \mathcal{O}_x such that $\pi^{-1}(U)$ is homeomorphic to $D^{n-k} \times R^k(k = \dim(\mathcal{O}_x))$.

Remark 4. To be consistent with usage, Lemma 1 can be viewed as the local version of the so-called splitting result for the injective torus actions in [CR1] and [CR2].

Proof of Lemma 1. First we assume that \mathcal{F} is a T-structure. For any $x \in M$, let (U, T^k, ϕ) be a stratum of \mathcal{F} with $U \supset \mathcal{O}_x$. Let Γ be the finite isotropy subgroup of \mathcal{O}_x and let $S \approx D^{n-k}$ be the slice of \mathcal{O}_x at x. Then \mathcal{O}_x determines the invariant tubular neighborhood U which is diffeomorphic to

$$U \approx D^{n-k} \times_{\Gamma} T^k$$
.

The universal covering of U is $D^{n-k} \times R^k$ and the covering group R^k of T^k acts on $\pi^{-1}(U)$ by the addition of the R^k -factor with the following commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} & & & \tilde{\phi} & & & \\ R^k \times (D^{n-k} \times R^k) & \to & D^{n-k} \times R^k & & \\ & \pi_t \times \pi \downarrow & & \pi \downarrow & & \\ & & & \phi & & & \\ T^k \times (D^{n-k} \times_{\Gamma} T^k) & \to & D^{n-k} \times_{\Gamma} T^k. \end{array}$$

We claim that $\pi^{-1}(U)$ is simply connected (thus it is diffeomorphic to $D^{n-k} \times R^k$). This follows from $\pi_1(U) \approx \pi_1(\mathcal{O}_x)$ and the injectivity of the local T^k -action.

Now consider \mathcal{F} to be a general F-structure. Take a stratum $(\tilde{U}, U, T^k, \phi, \psi)$ which contains \mathcal{O}_x $(dim\mathcal{O}_x = k)$. Pick up $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{U}$ with $\pi(\tilde{x}) = x$. Clearly, we can first find a tubular neighborhood of $\mathcal{O}_{\tilde{x}}$ as before and project it down by π to obtain the desired result. Q.E.D.

The basic geometrical consequence of the existence of an injective F-structure is the existence of a compatible volume collapse with BCG.

Theorem 5 (1) Suppose M admits an injective F-structure. Then M admits an invariant volume collapse with BCG.

- (2) Suppose M (open) admits an injective F-structure outside some compact subset, then M admits an invariant metric g satisfying
 - (i) $|K_g(M)| \leq 1$,
 - (ii) $Vol(M,g) < +\infty$,
 - (iii) $g\tilde{e}o_{\infty}(M,g) \geq 1$.

Proof. Given an injective F-structure \mathcal{F} , the construction for a volume collapse $\{g_{\delta}\}(0 \leq \delta \leq 1)$ compatible with \mathcal{F} is given in [CG3]. What we shall do is observe the BCG, that is actually a consequence of the local splitting property of \mathcal{F} . Let $\pi: \tilde{M} \to M$ be the universal covering, let $\tilde{g}_{\delta} = (\pi)^*(g_{\delta})$ be the pull-back metric. Fix a point $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{M}$ and $x = \pi(\tilde{x})$. Let \mathcal{O}_x be the orbit through x and T_x^{\perp} be the orthogonal complement of the subspace $T_x\mathcal{O}_x$ in T_xM with respect to the initial metric g_1 . We can find $\rho_x > 0$ such that $S_x = \exp_x B_{\rho_x}^{\perp} (\approx D^{n-k})(k = \dim(\mathcal{O}_x))$ is a slice of \mathcal{O}_x where $B_{\rho_x}^{\perp}$ is the ball of radius ρ_x in T_x^{\perp} . Let U be the invariant neighborhood determined by S_x . Applying Lemma 1, $\pi^{-1}(U) \approx S \times R^k$.

Let $\tilde{g}_{\delta}^{\perp}$ denote the restriction of \tilde{g}_{δ} to S_x . Following the proof of Theorem 2 in [CG4], one sees that the metrics $\{\tilde{g}_{\delta}\}$ converge to a C^{∞} product metric $\tilde{g}_{0} = \tilde{g}'_{0} + \tilde{g}''_{0}$, where $\tilde{g}''_{0} = fg_{e}$ (f is a C^{∞} function on the S_x , g_{e} is the Euclidean metric and \tilde{g}'_{0} is the limit of $\{\tilde{g}_{\delta}^{\perp}\}$). If \mathcal{F} is pure, then $\tilde{g}'_{0} = g_{\delta}^{\perp} = g_{1}^{\perp}$ ($0 \leq \delta \leq 1$). It follows that $InjRad(\tilde{x}, \tilde{g}_{\delta}) \geq \rho_{x}$ as $\delta \to 0$. In the case of \mathcal{F} not being pure, one still has $InjRad(\tilde{x}, \tilde{g}_{\delta}) \geq \rho_{x}$ since here the $\tilde{g}_{\delta}^{\perp}$ is obtained basically by spanning g_{1}^{\perp} .

Now it is clear that if the initial invariant metric g_1 satisfies the condition that the ρ_x has a uniform lower bound for all $x \in M$, then $\{g_{\delta}\}$ has BCG. The result in [CG3] implies one can always construct such an invariant metric g_1 . We refer to [CG3] for further details.

Q.E.D.

Examples of injective F-structures.

Example 1 The catagery of the manifolds which admits a pure injective F-structure concides with the categray of the so-called injective Seifert fiber space with fiber either a flat manifold or a almost flat manifold. Seifert fiber space were first introduced in [CR1] and [CR2]. Seifert fiber space include the following:

- 1) classical Seifert space with infinite fundamental groups,
- 2) flat manifolds and almost flat manifolds (=infranilmanifolds). An n-dimensional flat manifold M admits a natural injective T^n -structure. By Bieberbach's theorem, there exists a finite covering of M which is a flat torus T^n . It is clear that the multiplication of T^n determines the pure T^n -structure which is also injective.

Similarly, an almost flat manifolds M admits an injective F-structure given by the center of a nilpotent group acting on a finite covering of it (see[Gr1]).

The following example is very important.

Example 2 All the 3-manifolds (or a double covering) which admits an injective F-structure can be obtained as follows:

Take finite Seifert fiber spaces with torii boudary components, $N_1, ..., N_r$. Suppose none of N_i is homeomorphic to a solid torus and the Seifert fiber structure of each N_i is trivial near ∂N_i . Form a closed by identifying the boundary components of N_i 's in pairs (we assume the total number of boundary components are even). Then these S^1 - Seifert fibering on N_i generate a polarized T-structure which is actually injective (see Theorem 8).

Example 3 Let M^n be a closed oriented manifold and let $f: K(\pi, 1)$ be the classifying map, where $\pi \approx \pi_1(M^n)$. We call M^n essential, if the fundamental class, $[M^n] \in H_n(M, R)$ satisfies $f_*([M^n]) \neq 0$. Suppose \mathcal{F} is a pure positive rank F-structure on an essential manifold M^n . Then \mathcal{F} is injective. (The proof of this is given in the Appendix of [CG3]).

Example 4 Let M be a complete Riemannian manifold satisfying:

- (i) $-b^2 \le K \le -a^2$, for some constant a, b > 0,
- (ii) $Vol(M) < \infty$.

Then M has finite topological type, i.e., there exists a compact manifold

with boundary M_0 , such that M is diffeomorphic to the interior of M_0 . Moreover each component of ∂M_0 is an infranilmanifold. Thus M admits an injective F-structure outside a compact subset of M. We refer to [BGS] for more details.

1.2 Proof of Rationality of Limiting η -invariants Modulo §1.3 and §1.6

In this section, by employing the results in §1.3 and §1.6, we will give a simple proof of Theorem A. We also explain our idea to approach to Theorem A. First, let us recall the following result in [CG2].

Theorem 6 ([CG2]) Let N be a compact orientable (4k-1) manifold. Suppose N admits a volume collapse $\{g_{\delta}\}$ with BCG. Then the limiting η -invariant $\eta_{(2)}(N)$, defined by

$$\eta_{(2)}(N) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \eta(N, g_{\delta})$$

exists (and thus $\eta_{(2)}(N)$ is a topological invariant).

Our starting point in proving Theorem A is Theorem 1, Theorem 5, Theorem 6 and the result in [Ya].

In [Ya], D. Yang took a different approach from [CG2] to realize the global and topological aspects of the secondary geometric invariants (in particular, η -invariant). Yang 's approach depends on the result on collapsing geometry in [CG3]. Essentially, he generalized the residue formula

for characteristic numbers of closed manifolds in [Bo] and [BC], which expresses the characteristic numbers in terms of the data from the zero point set of a global Killing vector field, to compact manifolds whose boundary admits a polarized F-structure. Specializing to the η -invariant, with a little work, his result can be stated as follows.

Theorem 7 ([Ya]) Let N be an orientable compact (4k-1)-manifold and let \mathcal{F} be a polarized F-structure of N. If $\{g_8\}$ is a volume collapse compatible with \mathcal{F} , then the limiting η -invariant,

$$\eta(N, \mathcal{F}) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \eta(N, g_{\delta}) \tag{1.1}$$

exists and is independent of this specific invariant volume collapse chosen. Thus $\eta(N,\mathcal{F})$ is a topological invariant depending only on N and \mathcal{F} , which is called the limiting η -invariant associated to \mathcal{F} . Further, suppose N is the boundary of some compact manifold M and \mathcal{F} extends over M, $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}$. Let $Z = \bigcup Z_i$ be the singularity of polarization. Then

$$\eta(N, \mathcal{F}) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \eta(N, g_{\delta}) = \sigma(M) + \sum_{i} Res(\alpha, Z_{i})$$
(1.2)

where $\sigma(M)$ is the signature of M and $Res(\alpha, Z_i)$ is the residue of the cochain α , which is determined by the data from \mathcal{F} , at the component Z_i of Z. In particular, if all orbits of $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}$ are closed submanifolds of M, then $\eta(N, \mathcal{F})$ is a rational number.

Note that $\eta(N, \mathcal{F})$ is computable for an invariant volume collapse as long as N is a boundary and \mathcal{F} is extendable. In addition, it follows from

the concrete construction for α (see [Ya]) that $\eta(N, \mathcal{F})$ is a rational number if all orbits of $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}$ are closed submanifolds.

Now consider N as in Theorem 6. To get the rationality of $\eta_{(2)}(N)$ one needs to somehow find a method for computing $\eta_{(2)}(N)$ explicitly. We need to find a "good" volume collapse with BCG by means of $\eta_{(2)}(N)$ computable. Motivated by Theorem 6, Theorem 5 and Theorem 7, we would like to show the following:

From a sufficiently volum-collapsed metric g with BCG, one finds an injective T-structure \mathcal{F} . Using \mathcal{F} , one constructs an invariant volume collapse with BCG. Consequently, $\eta_{(2)}(N) = \eta(N,\mathcal{F})$. By filling N with a compact 4k-manifold M and extending \mathcal{F} to M one gets the rationality of $\eta_{(2)}(N)$.

Two questions arise here:

- 1) does a volume collapse with BCG imply the existence of injective F-structures \mathcal{F} ?
- 2) can one always fill in a (4k-1)-manifold N with a compact 4k-manfold M and extend \mathcal{F} over M?

In our special circumstances (3-dimensional case) the affirmative answer to 2) is not hard to achieve. However, 1) turns out to be considerably more difficult to establish.

The difficulties in 1) have two different sources. One is whether or not a sufficiently volume collapse metric leads to the existence of a polarized F-structure (see Introduction). In fact, according to Theorem 2, the affirmative answer would solve an open question on existence of the critical vanishing minimal volume (see [Gr2]). However, it is not hard to see that

a sufficiently collapsed 3-manifold always admits a polarized F-structure (Corollary 1). Another difficulty is illustrated by the following observation:

- 3) The construction of \mathcal{F}_g from a sufficiently injective radii collapsed metric g depends only on the local geometry of g ([CG4]). Although \mathcal{F}_g fully reflects the injectivity radii collapse, \mathcal{F}_g does not take into account either the small volume or BCG. Consequently, one can not expect \mathcal{F}_g to be injective (see Example 7 and the comment 3) in §1.5).
- 4) Except for few cases, N admits a unique injective F-structure (if it admits any at all). Note that N may admit infinitely many different polarized F-structures. Thus the existence of an injective F-structure is a global and topological constraint on N (see §1.4).

Intuitively, what we need to do is first find some local property for \mathcal{F}_g which reflects the BCG. Then use this to get the existence of an injective F-structure (the global topological information).

Following the construction for \mathcal{F}_g in [CG4], one sees that locally, \mathcal{F}_g is injective. By taking into account BCG, we find that the S^1 -orbits of \mathcal{F}_g are not homotopically contractible globally. It turns out, in the 3-dimensional situation, that such a local property is enough to guarantee the existence of an injective F-structure (here we assume $\pi_1(N)$ is infinite). Our basic method is to modify \mathcal{F}_g to be injective and our basic tools are some theorems from 3-dimensional topology.

Now by assuming Theorem B and Theorem 10, we give a simple proof of Theorem A as follows.

Proof of Theorem A. Let N be a closed oriented 3-manifold which admits a volume collapse $\{g_{\delta}\}$ with BCG $(\delta \to 0)$.

First, according to Theorem B, we can find an injective T-structure \mathcal{F} on N. Using \mathcal{F} we construct an invariant volume collapse $\{\tilde{g}_{\delta}\}$ with BCG on N (Theorem 5). From Theorem 6 and Theorem 7, we obtain

$$\eta_{(2)}(N) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \eta(N, g_{\delta}) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \eta(N, \widetilde{g}_{\delta}) = \eta(N, \mathcal{F}).$$

From Theorem 10, we fill in N with a compact 4-manifold M_N and extend \mathcal{F} to M_N so that all orbits of the extension are closed submanifolds. Finally we get the rationality of $\eta_{(2)}(N)$ by applying Theorem 7 to $\eta(N,\mathcal{F})$. Q.E.D.

1.3 Collapsed 3-Manifolds and Injective Tstructures

Based on the general results in §1.1, we study systematically the collapsing phenomena and F-structures on 3-manifolds. Our main goal is to establish Theorem B.

a. Polarized T-structures on 3-manifolds

The basic fact of an F-structure on a 3-manifold is the following:

Proposition 1 Any positive rank F-structure \mathcal{F} on a 3-manifold contains a polarized substructure.

A consequence of Theorem 1 and Proposition 1 is the following.

Corollary 1 Let (N,g) be a complete 3-manifold with $|K| \leq 1$. There exists a constant $\epsilon > 0$, so that if the injectivity radii is smaller than ϵ everywhere on N, then N admits a polarized F-structure \mathcal{F}_g which is almost compatible with the metric g.

Remark 5 Corollary 1 fails in higher dimensions. See Example 1.9 in [CG3].

Proof of Proposition 1. Let $\mathcal{F} = \{(\tilde{U}_{\alpha}, U_{\alpha}, T^{k_{\alpha}}, \phi_{\alpha})\}$. If there is a stratum $(\tilde{U}_{\alpha}, U_{\alpha}, T^{k_{\alpha}}, \phi_{\alpha})$ with $k_{\alpha} = 3$, then $U_{\alpha} = N$ and N is a T^3 -manifold up to finite covering. Since the T^3 -action ϕ_{α} has no fixed points, it follows that there is an S^1 -subgroup of T^3 acting on N (or a finite cover of N) with only finite isotropy groups; that is, \mathcal{F} contains a polarized S^1 -substructure.

Now we assume all $k_{\alpha} \leq 2$. Let Z be a component of the singular set of \mathcal{F} and let $(\tilde{U}_1, U_1, T^2, \phi_1, \psi_1), ..., (\tilde{U}_r, U_r, T^2, \phi_r, \psi_r)$ be all the strata of \mathcal{F} which contain Z. By taking a common cover U of $\tilde{U}_1, ..., \tilde{U}_r$ and lifting the T^2 -action on \tilde{U}_i over U, we may assume \mathcal{F} is locally a T-structure (i.e., we assume $Z \subset \tilde{U}_i \subseteq U$). Since dim N = 3 and $dim Z \geq 1$, it is easy to see that Z consists of a single S^1 -orbit; i.e., $Z \approx S^1$ is isolated. Endowed with an invariant metric, one can find an invariant tubular neighborhood $T_{\rho}(Z)$ with radius ρ satisfying the conditions: (i) $T_{\rho}(Z)$ contains no other components of the singular set of \mathcal{F} , (ii) $T_{\rho}(Z) \approx D^2 \times S^1$ (slice theorem), and (iii) $T_{\rho}(Z) \subset \bigcap_{i=1}^r \tilde{U}_i$. Let S^1 be a subgroup of T^2 without fixed points under ϕ_1 . By replacing the strata $(\tilde{U}_1, U_1, T^2, \phi_1), ..., (\tilde{U}_r, U_r, T^2, \phi_r)$ in \mathcal{F} by $(T_{\rho}(Z), S^1, \phi_1|_{S^1}, \psi_1), (\tilde{U}'_1, U'_1, T^2, \phi_1, \psi_1), ..., (\tilde{U}'_r, U'_r, T^2, \phi_r, \psi_r)$ with $U'_i = U_i - T_{\rho/2}(Z)$, one gets a substructure of \mathcal{F} which is polarized near Z.

A T-structure is easier to handle than an F-structure. We will see that an F-structure on an orientable 3-manifold has the same orbit structure as some T-structure (Proposition 3). In this sense one can reduce an F-structure to a T-structure in dimension 3. In fact, let us observe the following.

Proposition 2 Let $\pi: M' \to M$ be a finite covering and let \mathcal{F} be an F-structures of M. Then \mathcal{F} lifts to an F-structure \mathcal{F}' . Moreover, \mathcal{F} has the the following proporties if and only if \mathcal{F}' does:

- (i) \mathcal{F} is polarized;
- (ii) F is pure;
- (iii) F is injective.

Proof. Take any atlas $\{(\tilde{U}_i, U_i, T^{k_i}, \phi_i, \psi_i)\}$ for \mathcal{F} . For each i, consider the local pull-back covering bundle:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} & \pi^* \\ \pi^*(\tilde{U}) & \longrightarrow & \tilde{U}_i \\ \pi_i \downarrow & & \pi_i \downarrow \\ & \pi \\ & \pi^{-1}(U_i) & \longrightarrow & U_i \end{array}$$

Since π is a finite covering, the pull-back $\pi^*(\tilde{U})$ is a finite covering over \tilde{U} . Thus the T^{k_i} -action ϕ_i on \tilde{U} lifts to a (unique) T^{k_i} -action ϕ'_i (as the

covering group of T^{k_i}) on $\pi^*(\tilde{U})$ with the commutative diagram:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \phi_i' & & & & \\ T^{k_i} \times \pi^*(\tilde{U}_i) & \longrightarrow & \pi^*(\tilde{U}_i) \\ & 1 \times \pi^* \downarrow & & & \pi^* \downarrow \\ & & & & \phi_i & & \\ & & & & & \tilde{U}_i & & & \end{array}$$

Now we need to check that the collection $\{\pi^*(\tilde{U}_i), \pi^{-1}(U_i), T^{k_i}, \phi_i'\}$ satisfies Definition 1. This is straightforward from the above commutative diagrams and the definition of $\{(\tilde{U}_i, U_i, T^{k_i}, \phi_i, \psi_i)\}$. Q.E.D.

A consequence of Proposition 2 is that, as far as the properies (i), (ii) and (iii) are concerned in practice, one can always assume the manifolds are orientable (see Proposition 3).

Given a polarized F-structure \mathcal{F} on an orientable 3-manifold, let N' and N'' be the union of 1-dimensional orbits and 2-dimensional orbits respectively. Let $\bar{N}' = \bigcup N_i$ and $\bar{N}'' = \bigcup X_j$ where N_i and X_j are connected components. Since N is orientable a 2-dimensional orbit of \mathcal{F} is a torus and each X_j is homeomorphic to $T^2 \times I$ with $T^2 \times t$ corresponding to the 2-orbit (I is a closed interval). Thus we may view N as decomposed into pieces $N_1, ..., N_r$ which satisfy the conditions:

- (i) Each N_i is a Seifert fiber space with tori boundary components such that the Seifert fiber structure is trivial near the boundary,
- (ii) By identifying the corresponding boundary components of N_i 's in pairs, these S^1 -Seifert fibrations produce T^2 -orbits near the identified bound-

aries.

We call the above natural decomposition of the pair (N, \mathcal{F}) and denote it by $\mathcal{D}(N, \mathcal{F}) = \{N_1, ..., N_r\}$.

To find a T-structure whose natural decomposition coincides with the natural decomposition of \mathcal{F} , it is enough to realize that, locally, a Seifert fiber structure coincides with the orbits of a local S^1 -action. This is true because an S^1 -fibered solid torus (and also a solid Klein bottle) admits an S^1 -action leaving the fibration invariant (see [Sc]). As a summary of the above discussion, we give the following proposition.

Proposition 3 The orbit structure of a polarized F-structure on an orientable 3-manifold N coincides with the orbit structure of some T-structure on N.

Note that $K^2 \times S^1$ (K^2 a Klein bottle) supports an F-structure of rank three but does not admit a T-structure of rank three. Thus the orientability is a nessessary condition in Proposition 3.

To characterize the 3-manifolds which admit polarized T-structures, we recall graph manifolds as follows.

Definition 7 Let N be a compact 3-manifold. Suppose N decomposes into pieces $N_1, ..., N_r$ satisfying the following conditions

- (i) each Ni is a manifold with torus boundary components,
- (ii) each N_i supports an S^1 -bundle which is trivial near ∂N_i .

Then $N_G = \{N_1, ..., N_r\}$ is said to be a graph structure of N and N is called a graph manifold with the graph structure N_G .

The topological classification for graph manifolds was obtained in [Wa1] and [Wa2]. We shall use it to discuss the uniqueness of injective F-structures on 3-manifolds in §1.4.

Note that the natural decomposition $\mathcal{D}(N,\mathcal{F}) = \{N_1,...,N_r\}$ of a pair (N,\mathcal{F}) may not be a graph structure since the Seifert fibration on N_i may not be an S^1 -bundle structure (e.g. suppose N_i has exceptional orbits). But if one cuts out a tubular neighborhood around each exceptional orbit of N_i (i.e., further decomposes N_i), then one can actually obtain a graph structure from $\mathcal{D}(N,\mathcal{F})$.

On the other hand, for a given graph structure $N_G = \{N_1, ..., N_r\}$, by assigning an S^1 -structure on each $N_i \in N_G$ (which is not necessarily the original S^1 -bundle structure) one then constructs a polarized T-structure which is called a polarized T-structure associated to the graph structure N_G (note that this associated polarized T-structure may not have rank two near ∂N_i 's).

As a summary of the above discussion one can characterize the 3-manifolds which admit polarized F-structures as follows.

Proposition 4 Let N be an orientable 3-manifold and let \mathcal{F} be a polarized T-structure. Then N is a graph manifold and \mathcal{F} is associated to the graph structure of N.

The next proposition is about the sufficiently collapsed 3-manifolds with bounded diameter; it is needed only to prove Theorem E.

Proposition 5 For each real number D>0, there exists a constant, $\epsilon_3(D)>$

0, depending only on D, such that if a 3-manifold N satisfies the conditions:

 $|sectional\ curvature| \le 1, diameter \le D, and\ Volume < \epsilon_3(D),$

then N admits a pure polarized F-structure. Moreover, N is diffeomorphic to either a Seifert manifold or a solve manifold up to a double covering.

To prove Proposition 5, we need a lemma as follows.

Lemma 2 Let G be a compact Lie group acting on a manifold. If the principal orbits have codimension 2, then the orbit space is a manifold (with boundary).

Proof. See 4.1 Lemma in [Br].

Q.E.D.

Proof of Proposition 5. We first assume that N admits a pure polarized T^k -structure \mathcal{F} . If k=1, this amounts to saying that N admits an S^1 -foliation; i.e., N is a Seifert fibre space ([Sc]). If k=2, then the orbit space $N/\mathcal{F} \approx S^1$ since \mathcal{F} is pure polarized. Thus the projection $\pi: N \to N/\mathcal{F}$ is actually a bundle map with fiber either T^2 or K^2 (Klein bottle), equivalently, N (or its double covering if N is not orientable) is solvable.

Now we show that N does admit a pure polarization. We prove by contradiction. Supposing the opposite, we then obtain a sequence of closed 3-manifolds $\{N_i\}$ satisfying the conditions: 1) $|K(N_i)| \le 1$, 2) $diam(N_i) \le D$, 3) $Vol(N_i) \le \frac{1}{i}$, and 4) N_i does not admit any pure polarized F-structure. By Gromov's pre-compactness theorem one can chose a subsequence of $\{N_i\}$

which converges to a metric space Y under the Hausdoff distance. Note that 3) implies dim(Y) < 3. We may assume that $\lim_{i \to +\infty} d_H(N_i, Y) = 0$. Applying Theorem 3, $Y \approx N/O(3)$ with $dim(Y) \leq 2$. From Lemma 2, Y is a manifold (with boundary). If dim(Y) = 2, Theorem 4 shows that N_i admits an S^1 -fibration and hence a Seifert manifold ([Sc]) (otherwise Y is not a manifold) for i sufficiently large. This contradicts our assumption 4) above. If dim(Y) = 1, then $Y \approx S^1$ or [0,1]. In the first case N_i is a fiber bundle with fiber a 2-infranilmanifold (Theorem 4); that is, either T^2 or K^2 . So N_i admits a pure polarized T^2 -structure and this contradicts 4) again. If $Y \approx [0,1]$, the N_i are actually T^2 -manifolds without fixed points. It is easy to see that one can pick up an S^1 -subgroup of T^2 which also has no fixed points; i.e., N_i admits an S^1 polarization. Again this contradicts 4). By now our proof is complete.

b. Characterization of injective F-structures on 3-manifolds

We first observe the simple case where a 3-manifold N admits a pure injective F-structure. In such a case, N, or possibly its double covering, is either a Seifert manifold (for rank one) or a solve manifold (for rank two). Note that a solve manifold is the total space of a T^2 -bundle over S^1 and the T^2 -bundle structure is a pure injective T^2 -structure. Moreover we have

Proposition 6 Let N be a Seifert manifold and \mathcal{F} the pure S^1 -structure which coincides with the Seifert fiber structure. Then \mathcal{F} is injective if and only if $\pi_1(N)$ is infinite.

Proof. See [Or].

The next lemma is crucial for establishing the characterization of 3-manifolds which admit injective F-structures (Theorem 9).

Let Σ be a boundary component of a 3-manifold N. Σ is called incompressible if Σ is not S^2 or P^2 and the natural map $\pi_1(\Sigma) \to \pi_1(N)$ is injective.

Lemma 3 The boundary of a Seifert fibre space N_s is incompressible unless N_s is homeomorphic to a solid torus or a solid Klein bottle.

Proof. See Corollary 3.3 in [Sc].

Q.E.D.

The criterion for a polarized T-structure to be injective is given below.

Theorem 8 Let \mathcal{F} be a polarized T-structure on a 3-manifold N. Then \mathcal{F} is injective if and only if the natural decomposition $\mathcal{D}(N,\mathcal{F})$ of \mathcal{F} contains no piece N_i which is homeomorphic to a solid torus.

Proof. One direction in the proof is obvious. Suppose \mathcal{F} is injective. Let $\mathcal{D}(N,\mathcal{F}) = \{N_1,...,N_r\}$ be the natural decomposition of \mathcal{F} . From Lemma 3, the injectivity of \mathcal{F} implies that no N_i is a solid torus.

To prove the opposite direction we need some results from the combinatorial group theory.

Let G be a group, and let A and B be subgroups of G with $\phi: A \longrightarrow B$ an isomorphism. The HNN extension of G relative to A, B and ϕ is the

group

$$G^* = \langle G, t; t^{-1}at = \phi(a), a \in A \rangle.$$
 (1.3)

The group G is called the base of G^* , t is called the stable letter, and A and B are called the associated subgroups. The relation between G and G^* is the following:

Lemma 4 The group G is embedded in G* by the natural inclusion map.

HNN extensions arise in the following topological context. Let X be a space, and U and V be subspaces. Suppose $\pi_1(U) \to \pi_1(X)$ and $\pi_1(V) \to \pi_1(X)$ are both injective. Let $h: U \to V$ be a homeomorphism. Construct a new space Z by identifying U and V via h. Then $\pi_1(Z)$ is an HNN-extension of $\pi_1(X)$ associated to $\pi_1(U)$ and $\pi_1(V)$. Note that here t represents a path in X from u to h(u) ($u \in U$).

Corollary 2 Let $i: X \to Z$ be the natural inclusion. Then the induced map $i_*: \pi_1(X) \to \pi_1(Z)$ is injective.

A different situation from above is when V is a subspace of another space Y. We still suppose $\pi_1(V) \longrightarrow \pi_1(Y)$ is injective. Let Z be the space formed by identifying U and V via h. According to Van Kampen's theorem, the fundamental group $\pi_1(Z)$ is:

$$\pi_1(Z) = \langle \pi_1(X) * \pi_1(Y) : \pi_1(U) = \pi_1(V), h_* \rangle$$
(1.4)

Correspondingly, let B be a subgroup of another group H. The group G^* is called the free product of G and H with amalgamation ϕ , if

$$G^* = \langle G * H, \quad A = B, \phi \rangle.$$
 (1.5)

Lemma 5 G and H are embedded in G* by the natural inclusions.

Proof. See Theorem 2.6 in [LV]. Q.E.D.

Corollary 3 Let $i_1: X \to Z$ and $i_2: Y \to Z$ be the natural inclusions. Then the induced maps $i_{1*}: \pi_1(X) \to \pi_1(Z)$ and $i_{2*}: \pi_1(Y) \to \pi_1(Z)$ are injective.

Now we continue our proof of Theorem 8.

Assume each N_i in the natural decomposition $\{N_1, ..., N_r\}$ of (N, \mathcal{F}) is not homeomorphic to a solid torus. We shall show that \mathcal{F} is injective.

First we claim that the S^1 -fiberation of N_i is injective. This can be seen from Lemma 3. Note that assuming the S^1 -fiber is not injective implies that the ∂N_i must be compressible. Consequently, N_i is a solid torus (Lemma 3).

When glueing $\{N_i\}$ together, these S^1 -fibers generate T^2 -orbits around ∂N_i 's. We need to show that these T^2 -orbits are also injective. We start at N_1 and glue one component of ∂N_1 with its partner. There are two possibilities. One is that the partner is another component of ∂N_1 itself. In this case, since ∂N_i is incompressible, we use the HNN extension (Corollary 2) to conclude that the produced T^2 -orbits are injective. For the other case we use (Corollary 3) to get the same conclusion. Note that the boundary of

the glueing result still remains incompressible in both cases. By repeating the process finitely many times we then complete the proof.

Q.E.D.

c. Existence of injective F-structures on 3-manifolds

We begin to prove our main result, Theorem B.

First, we take the constant $\epsilon = c(3)$, where c(3) is given in Theorem 1. By Theorem 1 one finds a positive rank F-structure \mathcal{F}_g which is almost compatible with g. From Propositions 1, 2 and 3, we can assume N is orientable and \mathcal{F}_g is a polarized T-structure. As we have already explained in §1.2, \mathcal{F}_g may not be injective in general (also see Example 9 and 3) in §1.5). What we shall do is to modify \mathcal{F}_g so as to obtain an F-structure which is injective.

Let $\mathcal{D}(N, \mathcal{F}_g) = \{N_1, ..., N_r\}$ be the natural decomposition of (N, \mathcal{F}_g) . If each N_i is not homeomorphic to a solid torus then \mathcal{F}_g is already injective (Theorem 8). Thus the appearance of solid torii in $\mathcal{D}(N, \mathcal{F})$ violates the injectivity of \mathcal{F}_g . We shall get rid of these defect by changing the S^1 -structure on N_i which is homeomorphic to a solid torus.

Lemma 6 Let N_1 be a Seifert fiber space with r disjoint torus boundary components such that the fiber structure is trivial near the boundary. Form a manifold N with boundary by attaching solid tori $D_1 \times S^1, ..., D_{r'} \times S^1$ to N_1 along their boundaries (r' < r). If the S^1 -fiber of N_1 is not homotopically contractible in each $D_i \times S^1$ and N is not a solid torus, then N admits an injective S^1 -structure.

Proof. Since the S^1 -fiber of N_1 is not homotopically contractible in

each $D_i \times S^1$, it follows that the S^1 -fibration of N_1 extends over N. So N is a Seifert fibre space with boundary (r' < r). We need to show that the S^1 -fiber has infinite order in $\pi_1(N)$. Since N is not a solid torus, ∂N is incompressible (Lemma 3). Thus $\pi_1(\partial N) \to \pi_1(N)$ is injective. This implies that the S^1 -fiber of N is injective. Q.E.D.

Before proceeding further, we give an interesting example.

Example 5 ([So], [CG1]). This example shows that when consided as an graph manifold, a solid torus may have a rather complicated standard decomposition. First, let Σ denote the surface formed by removing three disjoint disks from S^2 . Take two copies of $D^2 \times S^1$ and attach them to $\Sigma \times S^1$ along their boundaries. We require that the attachment satisfies the conditions that the S^1 -factor of $\Sigma \times S^1$ is not identified with ∂D^2 , and ∂N is compressible. Note that N is a Seifert fiber space with boundary. Applying Lemma 3 one recognizes N as a solid torus.

Now taking r copies, $\Sigma_1 \times S^1, ..., \Sigma_r \times S^1$ of $\Sigma \times S^1$, and r+1 solid tori, $D_0 \times S^1, ..., D_r \times S^1$, we play the following game. The first step is to attach $D_0 \times S^1$ and $D_1 \times S^1$ to $\Sigma_1 \times S^1$ as above and to denote the result (a solid torus) by N_1 . The second step is to attach N_1 and $D_2 \times S^1$ to $\Sigma_2 \times S^1$. Continuing in this manner, it is obvious that one actually obtains the natural decomposition of $(D \times S^1, \mathcal{F})$ for some polarized T-structure \mathcal{F} .

Motivated by Example 5, we introduce the following.

Definition 8 Let $\mathcal{D}(N,\mathcal{F})$ be the natural decomposition. A maximal solid torus chain of $\mathcal{D}(N,\mathcal{F})$ is a subset T_{max} in $\mathcal{D}(N,\mathcal{F})$ such that the total space of T_{max} is homeomorphic to a solid tori and T_{max} is a maximal subset with this property.

Note that $\mathcal{D}(N,\mathcal{F})$ may contain no solid torus chain at all.

From the proof of Theorem 8 one observes that each maximal solid torus contains at least one $D_{i_0} \times S^1$ for some i_0 . To form a maximal solid torus chain, one starts with $D_{i_0} \times S^1$ and looks at its glueing partner. If the partner is also a solid torus, then the maximal solid torus chain consists of a single $D_{i_0} \times S^1$ (and N is homeomorphic to a lens space). Otherwise one attaches $D_{i_0} \times S^1$ to the partner and denotes the result by N_1 . Next one attaches all the solid torus, which are the partners of N_1 , to N_1 and denotes the result by N_2 . If N_2 is not a solid tori then we claim that the maximal solid torus chain is $D_{i_0} \times S^1$. This can be seen easily from Theorem 8. Otherwise we then repeat the above program by starting at the solid torus N_2 . After a finite number of steps one obtains the maximal solid torus chain containing $D_{i_0} \times S^1$. Clearly, if two distinct maximal solid torus chains in $\mathcal{D}(N,\mathcal{F})$ have nonempty intersection, then N is formed by glueing two solid tori along their boundaries. It is well-known that such a space is homeomorphic to a lens space (which includes S^3 and $S^2 \times S^1$).

We have actually proved the following lemma.

Lemma 7 Let T_{max} and T'_{max} be two distinct maximal solid torus chains of $\mathcal{D}(N,\mathcal{F})$. If $T_{max} \cap T'_{max} \neq \emptyset$, then N is homeomorphic to a lens space.

Theorem 9 Let $\mathcal{D}(N,\mathcal{F})$ be the natural decomposition in which all distinct maximal solid tori chains are disjoint. Suppose all S^1 -orbits of \mathcal{F} are not homotopically contractible in N. Then N admits an injective T-structure.

Proof. Let $\{T_{max,k}\}$ be the collection of all maximal solid torus chains of $\mathcal{D}(N,\mathcal{F})$. We obtain a new decomposition $\mathcal{D}_1(N)$ for N by simply replacing $\{T_{max,k}\}$ in $\mathcal{D}(N,\mathcal{F})$ by their total spaces $\{D_k \times S^1\}$. Attaching all $D_k \times S^1$ in $\mathcal{D}_1(N)$ to their partners, we get two possible results. One is that the result is N itself. In this case all $\{D_k \times S^1\}$ attach to a single N_{i_0} . It follows from the condition that the S^1 -fibration extends to an injective S^1 -structure of N (Lemma 6). Another possible result is that we obtain the decompositon $\mathcal{D}_2(N)$ of N satisfying the condition of Theorem 8. This can be seen as follows. First, each piece in $\mathcal{D}_2(N)$ is not a solid torus (otherwise it would contradict the maximal solid tori chains we defined). Secondly, our assumption that all S^1 -orbits of \mathcal{F} are not homotopically contractible implies that each piece in $\mathcal{F}_2(N)$ admits an injective Seifert fiber structure (Lemma 6). We then complete the proof by applying Theorem 8. Q.E.D.

Now we can finish the proof of Theorem B.

From Theorem 3 we only need to check that the S^1 -orbit of \mathcal{F}_g is not homotopically contractible. Note that so far we have not used anything related to BCG. But now this property enters. Suppose there is an S^1 -orbit \mathcal{O}_x of \mathcal{F}_g which is homotopically trivial. From the concrete construction for \mathcal{F}_g given in [CG4], one sees that \mathcal{O}_x is not homotopically trivial in a metric ball of certain size at x. Say, $B_r(x) \supset \mathcal{O}_x$ for some constant 0 < r < 1. Let

 $\pi: \tilde{N} \to N$ be the universal covering \tilde{N} of N and $\tilde{g} = \pi^*g$ the pull-back metric. Pick up a point \tilde{x} in $\pi^{-1}(x)$ and denote by $\tilde{\mathcal{O}}_{\tilde{x}}$ the lifting of \mathcal{O}_x at \tilde{x} . Then $\tilde{\mathcal{O}}_{\tilde{x}} \subset B_r(\tilde{x})$ since \mathcal{O}_x is trivial in N. Note that the injectivity radius of \tilde{M} at \tilde{x} is at least 1 (BCG). It follows that $\tilde{\mathcal{O}}_{\tilde{x}}$ is homotopically trivial in $B_r(\tilde{x})$. So is the projection \mathcal{O}_x of $\tilde{\mathcal{O}}_{\tilde{x}}$ in $B_r(x)$. We then get an obvious contradiction.

We conclude this section by giving several examples. The first one will show that Theorem B is sharp.

Example 6. Let S^3 be the standard 3-sphere. Take a sequence of prime integers p_i with $p_i \to +\infty$. For each p_i , define a free Z_{p_i} -action on S^3 as follows: first, parametrize $S^3 \subset C^1 \times C^1$ and let φ_{p_i} be the generator of Z_{p_i} , then the action is given by $\varphi_{p_i}(\rho_1 e^{2\pi i\theta_1}, \rho_2 e^{2\pi i\theta_2}) = (\rho_1 e^{\frac{2\pi i\theta_1}{p_i}}, \rho_2 e^{\frac{2\pi i\theta_2}{p_i}})$. It is well-known that the quotient S^3/Z_{p_i} is the lens space $L(p_i, 1)$. Since Z_{p_i} acts as isometries, the standard metric of S^3 projects to a metric on $L(p_i, 1)$ of sectional curvature = 1. Note that $Vol(L(p_i, 1)) = Vol(S^3)/p_i \to 0$ as $p_i \to +\infty$.

The next example shows that in general, one cannot expect to obtain injective F-structures by means of geometrical constructions as given in both [CG4] and [Fu3].

Example 7. Take the standard S^2 and S^1 and make $S^2 \times S^1$. Consider

the S^1 subgroup H of SO(3):

$$H = \{ \left(egin{array}{ccc} cost & -sint & 0 \ sint & cost & 0 \ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{array}
ight) \mid & 0 \leq t < 2\pi \}.$$

 $T^2 = H \times S^1$ acts on $S^2 \times S^1$ by H on the first factor and multiplication on the second factor. Let R^1_{θ} be a R^1 -subgroup of T^2 , determined by an irrational angle θ . We obtain a volume collapse $\{g_{\delta}\}$ (with bounded diameter) by simply shrinking the standard product metric on $S^2 \times S^1$ along the orbits of R^1_{θ} . Note that the universal covering space of $S^2 \times S^1$ is $S^2 \times R^1$. It follows that the pull-back metrics have a uniform lower bound on injectivity radii. Since R^1_{θ} is dense in T^2 , the limiting space of this collapse is a closed interval. This implies that for any sufficiently collapsed metric g_{δ} , the F-structure $\mathcal{F}_{g_{\delta}}$, constructed from g_{δ} by using either the local short geodesics technique ([CG4]) or the frame-bundle technique ([F2]), has to contain 2-dimensional orbits. In particular, $\mathcal{F}_{g_{\delta}}$ is not injective.

1.4 Uniqueness of Injective F-structures on 3-manifolds

Using the classification results for Seifert manifolds and for graph manifolds obtained in [Se] and in [Wa1] and [Wa2] respectively, we discuss the uniqueness of injective T-structures and prove Theorem C.

The question on the uniqueness of injective F-structures on a closed orientable 3-manifold N is suggested by the following observation:

Suppose N admits two injective F-structures \mathcal{F}_1 and \mathcal{F}_2 . From our previous work one gets

$$\eta(N, \mathcal{F}_1) = \eta_{(2)}(N) = \eta(N, \mathcal{F}_2).$$
(1.6)

The explicit residue formula for limiting η -invariant associated to a polarized T-structure shows that $\eta(N, \mathcal{F})$ is computed using the topological data derived from (N, \mathcal{F}) .

To be precise, let $\mathcal{D}(N,\mathcal{F}) = \{N_1,...,N_r\}$ be the natural decomposition. An S^1 -orbit of \mathcal{F} is said to be an exceptional orbit if it is an exceptional orbit for some N_i (as a Seifert fiber space). The rational portion of $3\eta(N,\mathcal{F})$ is determined by the exceptional orbits of \mathcal{F} and the integer portion of $3\eta(N,\mathcal{F})$ is contributed by the twisting around the boundaries of the N_i 's (see §1.7 for further details).

Thus (1.6) suggests that in some sense \mathcal{F}_1 may not be very "different" from \mathcal{F}_2 . It turns out that except for few cases, if a closed orientable 3-manifold admits an injective F-structure \mathcal{F} then it is unique up to weak isomorphism (see Definition 9). Before giving the precise definition for weak isomorphism, let us first describe all the exceptional cases.

Example 8 Let N be a 3-nilmanifold. The action of the center of N on N gives a (unique) pure S^1 -structure \mathcal{F}_1 which is injective. Note that N may also be viewed as a torus bundle over S^1 and thus N supports a pure T^2 -structure \mathcal{F}_2 which is also injective. Since \mathcal{F}_1 and \mathcal{F}_2 have different

ranks \mathcal{F}_1 is not isomorphic to \mathcal{F}_2 .

Example 9 Let N be a solve manifold. N is the total space of a T^2 -bundle over S^1 , $\pi: T^2 \to N \to S^1$. Take a finite open cover, $U_1, ..., U_r (r \ge 2)$ of the base S^1 and denote $\tilde{U}_i = \pi^{-1}(U_i)$. By choosing pairwise different S^1 -actions ϕ_i on \tilde{U}_i , we then obtain a mixed injective T-structure $\mathcal{F} = \{(\tilde{U}_i, S^1, \phi_i)\}_{i=1}^r$. It is obvious that in such a way one can construct infinitely many non-isomorphic classes of injective T-structures on N.

Note that all the injective T-structures in above examples do not have exceptional orbits. The next example is not of the case.

Example 10 Any S^1 -action without a fixed point on $S^2 \times S^1$ is injective. Thus $S^2 \times S^1$ supports infinitely many non-isomorphic pure injective S^1 -structures. Note that the Seifert invariants corresponding to the S^1 -action is $\{b, (o, 0), (\alpha, \beta), (\alpha, \alpha - \beta)\}$.

Two exceptional orbits of a T-structure \mathcal{F} on an oriented manifold N are said to be conjugate if their corresponding Seifert invariants (α_1, β_1) and (α_2, β_2) satisfying $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$ and $\beta_1 = \alpha_2 - \beta_2$. Our explicit residue formula in §1.6 will show that a pair of conjugate exceptional orbits in \mathcal{F} contributes only integers to $3\eta(N, \mathcal{F})$.

Definition 9 Let N be a 3-manifold and let \mathcal{F}_1 and \mathcal{F}_2 be two injective T-structures. Let $\mathcal{F}(N,\mathcal{F}_i) = \{N_{i,1},...,N_{i,r_i}\}$ be the natural decompositions of \mathcal{F}_i (i=1,2). N_i is called a trival piece if N_i is homeomorphic to $T^2 \times I$. \mathcal{F}_1 is said to be weakly isomorphic to \mathcal{F}_2 if there is an automorphism ϕ of N

such that for each non-trivial piece $N_{1,j}$, there is an $N_{2,k(j)}$ such that $\phi_{|N_{1,j}}$: $N_{1,j} \to N_{2,k(j)}$ is an embedding which prevents the Seifert fiber structure.

Remark 6 Note that 2) actually says that if \mathcal{F}_1 is weakly isomorphic to \mathcal{F}_2 , then they are different only on the trivial pieces. Thus weakly isomorphic injective T-structures have the same exceptional orbits. The explicit residue formula for $\eta(N,\mathcal{F})$ in §1.7 will show that $\eta(N,\mathcal{F})$ depends only on the weak isomorphism class of \mathcal{F} .

Note that the injective T-stuctures in Example 9 are in the same weak isomorphism class since their natural decompositions contain only trivial pieces. We shall see later that Examples 8 and 10 are the only cases where a 3-manifold N supports more than one non weak isomorphism classes of injective T-structures. First, let us check this for the simplest case where the injective T-structure is pure.

Proposition 7 Let \mathcal{F}_1 and \mathcal{F}_2 be two pure injective T^k -structure on a manifold N (k = 1, 2). Suppose N is not diffeomorphic to $S^2 \times S^1$. Then \mathcal{F}_1 is isomorphic to \mathcal{F}_2 up to isomorphism.

Proof. First we check the rank one case; that is, the case when N is an injective Seifert manifold. It is well-known that a large Seifert manifold supports a unique Seifert fibration up to isomorphism (see Theorem 6 of §5, [Or]). Since N is not homeomorphic to $S^2 \times S^1$ and $\pi_1(N)$ is not finite, one easily checks that N is actually a large Seifert manifold. Consequently, N admits a unique injective S^1 -structure.

In the case of rank two, N is a solve manifold. By the classification result for solve manifolds ([RV]) one concludes with the uniqueness of injective T^2 -structures. Q.E.D.

Now we are ready to prove Theorem C.

Proof of Theorem C. Suppose N is homeomorphic neither to $S^2 \times S^1$ nor a nilmanifold. Let \mathcal{F}_i be two injective T-structures on N and let $\mathcal{D}(N,\mathcal{F}_i) = \{N_{i,1},...,N_{i,r_i}\}$ be the natural decomposition of \mathcal{F}_i , (i=1,2). If $r_1 = 1$, then either $N = N_1$, or N is homeomorphic to $T^2 \times I$, or N is not homeomorphic to $T^2 \times I$. The first two cases are actually reduced to Proposition 7. The last possibility will be treated in the case of $r_i \geq 2$.

Now assume either $r_1 = 1$ and N_1 is not homeomorphic to $T^2 \times I$, or $r_i \geq 2$ (*).

First we put an additional assumption that both $\mathcal{D}(N, \mathcal{F}_1)$ and $\mathcal{D}(N, \mathcal{F}_2)$ contain no trivial piece. Under (*) and the above additional assumption, it is easy to check that by cutting out a tubular neighborhood around each exceptional orbit of N_i one can actually obtain a so-called simple graph structure in the sense of [Wa1] and [Wa2] (also see §8 of [Or]). Consequently, there is an automorphism ϕ of N which is isotopic to the identity map such that $\phi(N_{1,j}) = N_{2,j}$ and $r_1 = r_2$ (see Theorem 5 of §8, [Or]).

Note that from Proposition 7 each $N_{i,j}$ admits a unique Seifert fiber structure up to isomorphism. Thus \mathcal{F}_1 is actually isomorphic to \mathcal{F}_2 .

Now we allow $\mathcal{D}(N, \mathcal{F}_i)$ to contain trivial pieces. What we shall do is glue the trival pieces in $\mathcal{D}(N, \mathcal{F}_i)$ to produce a simple decomposition as in

the previous case.

We first glue the trivial pieces in each $\mathcal{D}(N, \mathcal{F}_i)$ which are supposed to glue to each other. Clearly the results are disjoint trivial pieces. Then we attach each of these disjoint trival pieces to a non-trivial piece in $\mathcal{D}(N, \mathcal{F}_i)$ (there are two choices here). We denote the result by $\{\tilde{N}_{i,1}, ..., \tilde{N}_{i,\tilde{r}_i}\}$ (i = 1, 2). Since none of $\tilde{N}_{i,j}$ are trival, from our previous discussion we conclude that there is an automorphism ϕ of N such that $\phi(\tilde{N}_{1,i}) = \tilde{N}_{2,i}$ and $\tilde{r}_1 = \tilde{r}_2$. This implies that \mathcal{F}_1 is weakly isomorphic to \mathcal{F}_2 . Q.E.D.

1.5 Further Discussion

Besides the uniqueness of injective T-structures, there is another question arising from our proof of Theorem A. To state it clearly, let us recall the following:

Let $\{g_{\delta}\}$ be a volume collapse with BCG on a compact orientable 3-manifold. Then $\eta_{(2)}(N) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \eta(N, g_{\delta})$. For a fixed sufficiently collapsed metric g_{δ} , one constructs a polarized F-structure \mathcal{F}_{δ} which is almost compatible with g_{δ} (Corollary 1). Then,

$$\eta_{(2)}(N) \approx \eta(N, g_{\delta}) \approx \eta(N, \mathcal{F}_{\delta}).$$
(1.7)

Note that the first approximation in (1.7) follows from the estimate below which was established in [CG2]:

$$|\eta_{(2)}(N) - \eta(N, g_{\delta})| \leq C \cdot Vol(N, g_{\delta})$$

The second approximation follows from the fact that g_{δ} is sufficiently collapsed and almost compatible with \mathcal{F}_{δ} . Here "almost compatible" means

that there exists an invariant metric closed to g_{δ} (see [CG4]).

On the other hand, by performing the modification process on \mathcal{F}_{δ} as in the proof of Theorem 9, one obtains an injective F-structure \mathcal{F} . From $\eta(N,\mathcal{F}) = \eta_{(2)}(N)$ and (1.7) we deduce that

$$\eta(N, \mathcal{F}_{\delta}) \approx \eta(N, \mathcal{F}).$$
(1.8)

Note that (1.8) may suggest that \mathcal{F}_{δ} is weakly isomorphic to \mathcal{F} when g_{δ} is sufficiently collapsed. (Here, we assume N is neither homeomorphic to $S^2 \times S^1$ nor a nilmanifold and thus the weak isomorphism class of \mathcal{F} is independent of δ (Theorem C).) The following example supports this.

Example 11 Let N be an injective Seifert manifold. To simplify our discussion below we assume N has a single exceptional orbit \mathcal{O} . As a model, we may form N as follows:

Let Σ be a torus with a disc removed and let $N_1 = \Sigma \times S^1$. Glueing in a twisted manner a solid torus $D \times S^1$ to N_1 along their boundaries, one obtains a closed injective Seifert manifold N with a single exceptional orbit which is the central orbit of $D \times S^1$.

Now we start with an invariant metric g_1 and simply shrink g_1 along the Seifert fiber while keeping g_1 fixed on the orthogonal direction to the orbits. Thus we obtain an invariant volume collapse $\{g_{\delta}\}$ with BCG (Theorem 5).

Then we fix a sufficiently collapsed metic g_{δ} and construct \mathcal{F}_{δ} as in [CG4]. Note that by the invariance of g_{δ} the exceptional orbit \mathcal{O} is the shortest closed geodesic in a neighborhood U of \mathcal{O} . From the concrete construction of \mathcal{F}_{δ} as in [CG4] one sees that \mathcal{F}_{δ} is actually isomorphic to \mathcal{F}

on U and on N_1 . On $N-(U \cup N_1)$ which is homeomorphic to $T^2 \times I$, \mathcal{F}_{δ} is actually a mixed T-structure just as in Example 9. Thus we see that in this situation \mathcal{F}_{δ} is actually weakly isomorphic to \mathcal{F} .

We would like to make the following comments.

1) Note that the above discussion for Example 11 is valid for any 3-manifold N as long as the volume collapse with BCG is compatible with an injective T-structure on N. Although a general volume collapse $\{g_{\delta}\}$ with BCG may not be constructed as in Example 11, it can be thought of as a perturbation of an invariant volume collapse with respect to an injective T-structure. Thus the associated polarized T-structures \mathcal{F}_{δ} is "almost" weakly isomorphic to \mathcal{F} in the sense that \mathcal{F}_{δ} is weakly isomorphic to \mathcal{F} as $\delta \to 0$. Consequently,

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \eta(N, \mathcal{F}_{\delta}) = \eta(N, \mathcal{F}) \tag{1.9}$$

2) Based on the observation in 1) and our previous work in §1.3, §1.4 and §1.6, we can give a topological proof of Theorem 6 for 3-manifolds that is totally different from [CG2].

We first assume N is not homeomorphic to either $S^2 \times S^1$ or a nilmanifold. We start with a volume collapse $\{g_{\delta}\}$ with BCG on a closed oriented 3-manifold N. For each sufficiently small δ , we obtain a polarized T-structure \mathcal{F}_{δ} (Corollary 1). Since each metric g_{δ} has BCG, we can modify each \mathcal{F}_{δ} to an injective T-structure \mathcal{F} as in the proof of Theorem B (note that by our assumption on N, \mathcal{F} is unique up to weak isomorphism

(Theorem C)). From (1.7) and (1.9) we obtain

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \eta(N, g_{\delta}) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \eta(N, \mathcal{F}_{\delta}) = \eta(N, \mathcal{F}_{\delta})$$
 (1.10)

This implies that the limiting η -invariant with respect to a volume collapse with BCG is a topological invariant.

As for when N is either $S^2 \times S^1$ or a nilmanifold, although N admits non-weak isomorphic classes of injective T-structures, a simple computations show that $\eta(N, \mathcal{F})$ is independent of \mathcal{F} as along as \mathcal{F} is injective. Now the proof is complete.

3) Note that in Example 11, one actually gets a maximal solid torus chain of $(N, \mathcal{F}_{\delta})$ on $N - (U \cup N_1)$. In fact, this maximal solid torus chain is a trival one, i.e., except for the initial U, all other pieces in this chain are homeomorphic to $T^2 \times I$. It is conceivable that more complicated maximal solid torus chains may be formed in the polarized T-structure constructed from geometry as in ([CG4]). Also, since \mathcal{F}_{δ} contains a maximal solid torus chain for all sufficiently small δ , one sees again that an injective T-structure cannot be produced from the geometrical construction given in [CG4].

1.6 Filling 3-manifolds via Equivariant Plumbings

In part c of this section we will prove the following fact

Theorem 10 Let N ba a closed orientable 3-manifold and let \mathcal{F} be a polarized T-structure of N. Then there is a 4-manifold M_N and a T-structure $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}$ satisfying:

- 1) $\partial M_N \approx N$,
- 2) $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_{|_{N}} \approx \mathcal{F}$,
- 3) all orbits of $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}$ are closed submanifolds of M_N .

Note that any closed orientable 3-manifold can be viewed as a boundary since the cobodism ring of such manifolds is trivial. To insure that we can extend \mathcal{F} to M_N , we will construct M_N by the so-called equivariant plumbing technique.

a. Equivariant Plumbings

Let us recall the equivariant plumbing technique from [Or]. The principal S^1 -bundles over a closed orientable 2-manifold Y are classified by $H^2(Y,Z)=Z$. Denote the associated D^2 -bundles indexed by $b\in Z$ as $\xi=(M_b,\pi,Y),\pi:M_b\to Y$. The compact 4-manifold M_b has the homotopy type of Y. Let the zero section $\nu:M_b\to Y$ represent the positive generator $\alpha\in H_2(M_b,Z)$. Then the self intersection number $\alpha\cdot\alpha=b$ is the Euler number.

Given two such bundles $\xi_i = (M_{b_i}, \pi_i, Y_i)(i = 1, 2)$, we plumb them together as follows. Choose 2-disks $B_i \subset Y_i$ and the bundles over them $\pi^{-1}(B_i)$. Since they are trivial bundles there are natural identifications $\mu_i : D^2 \times D^2 \to \xi_i$. Let $s : D^2 \times D^2 \to D^2 \times D^2$, s(x, y) = (y, x) be the reflection and define $f : \pi^{-1}(B_1) \to \pi^{-1}(B_2)$ by $f = \mu_2 \circ s \circ \mu^{-1}$. Pasting ξ_1

and ξ_2 together along $\pi^{-1}(B_1)$ and $\pi^{-1}(B_1)$ by the map f is called plumbing. It yields a topological 4-manifold with corners that may be smoothed. The resulting smooth structure is independent of the choices involved.

A graph Γ is a finite, 1-dimensional, connected simplicial complex. Let $A_0, ..., A_n$ denote its vertices. A star is a contractible graph where at most one vertex, say A_0 , is connected with more than two other vertices. If there is such a vertex, call it the center. A weighted graph is a graph where a nonnegative integer g_i (the genus) and an integer b_i (the weight) is associated with each vertex A_i .

Given a weighted graph Γ we define a compact 4-manifold M_{Γ} as follows: For each vertex (A_i, g_i, b_i) take a D^2 -bundle $\xi_i = (Y_{b_i}, \pi_i, M_i)$ where M_i is a closed, orientable 2-manifold of genus g_i . If an edge connects A_i and A_j in Γ then perform plumbing on ξ_i and ξ_j . If A_i is connected with more than one other vertex, choose pairwise disjoint disks on M_i to perform the plumbing. Finally smooth the resulting manifold to obtain M_{Γ} .

We shall now define an S^1 -action on the building blocks. For g > 0 let S^1 act trivially on the base and as a rotation on each fiber. For g = 0 we define S^1 -actions on $\xi = (M_b, \pi, S^2)$ in general. A plumbing is equivariant if the trivializing maps μ_i and identifying map s are equivariant.

b. Seifert manifolds as the results of plumbings

In his classical paper, Seifert [Se] classified the class of closed 3-manifolds (Seifert manifolds) satisfying the conditions:

(S1) the manifold decomposes into a collection of simple closed curves called fibers so that each point lies on a unique fiber,

(S2) each fiber has a tubular neighborhood U consisting of fibers so that U is a fibred solid torus. A fibred solid torus is finitely covered by a trivial fibred solid torus.

His main result states that a Seifert manifold N is determined up to a fiber-preserving homeomorphism by the following Seifert invariants:

$$N = \{b; (\epsilon, g); (\alpha_1, \beta_1), ..., (\alpha_r, \beta_r)\}$$
(1.11)

where g is the genus of the base space Y of N, the symbols $\epsilon = o, o_1, n_1$ and n_2 represent the situation when both N and Y are orientable, N is orientable and Y is not, N is not orientable and Y is, neither N nor Y are orientable respectively. (α_i, β_i) is the Seifert invariant of the exceptional orbit which is determined as follows. An S^1 -orbit \mathcal{O} is called exceptional, if its isotrpy group is nontrivial, say Z_p . In a tubular neighborhood $D \times S^1$ of \mathcal{O} as in (S2), the S^1 -fibration is equivalent to the orbits of the local S^1 -action (after normalization):

$$\theta(r, \theta_1, \theta_2) = (r, \theta_1 + q\theta, \theta_2 + p\theta)$$

Then the oriented Seifert invariant of \mathcal{O} is determined by

$$\alpha = p, \quad \beta q \equiv 1 \mod \alpha \quad 0 < \beta < \alpha$$

If N is orientable then the fiber preserving homeomorphisms preserves orientation. Note that a change of orientation of N gives the Seifert invariants

$$-M = \{-b - r; (\epsilon, g); (\alpha_1, \alpha_1 - \beta_1), ..., (\alpha_r, \alpha_r - \beta_r)\}$$
 (1.12)

Lemma 8 Consider the star S below with each $b_{i,j} \geq 2$ and $g_{i,j} = 0$ except for the center:

he center:
$$(-b_{1,1}) = (-b_{1,2}) = \cdots = (-b_{1,s_1})$$

$$(-b_{2,1}) = (-b_{2,2}) = \cdots = (-b_{2,s_2})$$

$$\vdots$$

$$(-b_{r,1}) = (-b_{r,2}) = \cdots = (-b_{r,s_r})$$

$$(1.13)$$

The result, $N_S = \partial M_S$, of the equivariant boundary plumbing has Seifert invariants

$$N_S = \{b; (o, g); (\alpha_1, \beta_1), ..., (\alpha_s, \beta_s)\}$$
(1.14)

where

$$\frac{\alpha_{j}}{\alpha_{j}-\beta_{j}}=[b_{j,1},...,b_{j,s_{j}}], \qquad j=1,...,r.$$

are the continued fractions. Conversely, every Seifert manifold as in (1.14) is the result of an equivariant plumbing according to a star S as in (1.13).

Remark 7 Lemma 8 is valid for the Seifert manifolds whose base spaces are non-orientable. Let $\xi = (M_{-b-r}, \pi, Y)$ be the D^2 -bundle corresponding to the center [-b-r,g] in (1.13) and let $\tilde{\xi} = (\tilde{M}_{-b-r}, \tilde{\pi}, \tilde{Y})$ have the same meaning as $\xi = (M_{-b-r}, \pi, Y)$ except that \tilde{Y} is non-orientable. It is not hard to see that if in the plumbing process of Lemma 1.13, we replace M_{-b-r} by \tilde{M}_{-b-r} and leave all others unchanged, then the plumbing result is the Seifert manifold whose Seifert invariant is $N = \{b; (n_2, g); (\alpha_1, \beta_1), ..., (\alpha_r, \beta_r)\}$ (i.e., the base space of N is non-orientable).

Remark 8 Let $N = \{b; (o,g); (\alpha_1,\beta_1),...,(\alpha_r,\beta_r)\}$. Then $-N = \{-b-r; (o,g); (\alpha_1,\alpha_1-\beta_1),...,(\alpha_r,\alpha_r-\beta_r)\}$. If we denote by M_N and M_{-N} the fillings for N and -N respectively as in Lemma 8, then $M_N \neq M_{-N}$ since $|\sigma(M_N)| \neq |\sigma(M_{-N})|$ (see Theorem D). This implies that M_N depends not only on the topology of N but also on the orientation of N.

c. Proof of Theorem 10

Let (N, \mathcal{F}) be as in Theorem 10. From now on, we will assume the natural decomposition of (N, \mathcal{F}) has the following form

$$\mathcal{D}(N,\mathcal{F}) = \{N_1,...,N_k;\phi_1,...,\phi_l\}$$

where

1) Each N_e is an orientable Seifert fiber space (with boundary) such that the Seifert fiber structure is trivial near ∂N_e and \mathcal{F} is generated by these Seifert fibration of N_e 's $(1 \leq e \leq k)$.

and

2) the total number of boundary components of $\{N_e\}_{e=1}^k$ is 2l. For each normalized pair $((\partial N_e)_f, (\partial N_{e'})_f)$ $((\partial N_e)_f = S_e^1 \times S_f^1)$ which are glued via ϕ_f , we may assume the glueing map ϕ_f $(1 \leq f \leq l)$ is given by the matrix

$$\phi_f = \begin{pmatrix} u_f & v_f \\ p_f & q_f \end{pmatrix} : S_e^1 \times S_f^1 \to S_{e'}^1 \times S_f^1; \quad \det(\phi_f) = -1$$
 (1.15)

where the second factors are fibers. We will form \mathcal{M}_N in four steps.

Step 1. By 1) one can close up each component of ∂N_e by attaching a solid torus $D_e \times S_f^1$ to $(\partial N_e)_f$ in the obvious way. We denote by \tilde{N}_e the

closed Seifert manifold produced from N_e . According to the classification result in [Se] we may assume \tilde{N}_e is given by

$$\tilde{N}_e = \{b_e; (\epsilon_e, g); (\alpha_{e,1}, \beta_{e,1}), ..., (\alpha_{e,s_e}, \beta_{e,s_e})\}$$

where $\epsilon_e = o$ if the base of \tilde{N}_e is orientable. Otherwise $\epsilon_e = n_2$.

Step 2. Fill in each \tilde{N}_e with a 4-manifold $M_{\tilde{N}_e}$ as in Lemma 8 or Remark 7 depending on $\epsilon_e = o$, or n_2 .

Step 3. Form M_N by making plumbings among the $M_{\tilde{N}_e}$'s according to the ϕ_f $(1 \leq f \leq l)$. For each ϕ_f we glue $M_{\tilde{N}_e}$ with $M_{\tilde{N}_{e'}}$ by making equivariant plumbings from $D_e \times D_f (D_e \times \partial D_f = D_e \times S_f^1)$ to $D_{e'} \times D_f (D_{e'} \times \partial D_f = D_{e'} \times S_f^1)$ successively according to the linear graph

$$(-c_{f,1})$$
____ $(-c_{f,2})$ ____ $(-c_{f,s_f})$

which is determined by the continious fraction $p_f/q_f = [c_{f,1}, ..., c_{f,s'_f}]$.

Note that the boundary of the total space of the sequence of plumbings from $D_e \times D_f$ to $D_{e'} \times D_f$ is the lens space $L(p_f, q_f)$.

Clearly, ∂M_N has a decomposition $(N_1,...,N_k,\phi_1',...,\phi_l')$ where

$$\phi_f' = \begin{pmatrix} u_f' & v_f' \\ p_f & q_f \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ c_{f,s_f'} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \cdot \cdot \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ c_{f,1} & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

To see $\partial M_N \approx N$, it is enough to show the following:

Lemma 9 ϕ_f is isotopic to ϕ'_f $(1 \le f \le l)$.

Proof. Since

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} u_f & v_f \\ p_f & q_f \end{pmatrix} = \det \begin{pmatrix} u'_f & v'_f \\ p_f & q_f \end{pmatrix} = -1$$

i.e.,

$$u_f q_f - p_f v_f = -1 (1.16)$$

$$u_f'q_f - p_f v_f' = -1, (1.17)$$

by subtracting (1.17) from (1.16), one gets

$$(u_f - u_f')q_f = (v_f - v_f')p_f. (1.18)$$

Since p_f and q_f are coprime integers and $p_f|(u_f-u_f')q_f$, then $p_f|(u_f-u_f')$. Put $u_f-u_f'=p_fm_f$. It follows that $v_f-v_f'=m_fq_f$. Therefore we define an isotopy $\phi_{f,t}$ by

$$\phi_{f,t} = \begin{pmatrix} u_f' + t m_f p_f & v_f' + t m_f q_f \\ p_f & q_f \end{pmatrix} \qquad 0 \le t \le 1.$$
 Q.E.D.

Step 4. Extending \mathcal{F} over M_N . First, we observe the following:

- (i) $M_N = (\bigcup_{e=1}^k M_{\tilde{N}_e}) \bigcup (\bigcup_{f=1}^l M_{L(p_f,q_f)}),$
- (ii) $M_{\tilde{N}_e} \cap M_{\tilde{N}_{e'}} = \emptyset$, $(e \neq e')$
- (iii) $M_{\tilde{N}_e} \cap M_{L(p_f,q_f)} = \emptyset$ or $D_e \times D_f$.

Let \mathcal{F}_e be the restriction of \mathcal{F} to N_e and let \mathcal{F}_f' be the restriction of \mathcal{F} to $L(p_f, q_f)$ (note that \mathcal{F}_f' is actually the T-structure given in \mathbf{c} of §2.1 with spesifying $a_1 = a_2 = 0$).

We then make the extension of \mathcal{F} over M_N by simply extending \mathcal{F}_e over $M_{\tilde{N}_e}$ and \mathcal{F}'_f over $M_{L(p_j,q_j)}$. Note that the above extension are not unique in any sense. Clearly, all orbits of the extended T-structure $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}$ are closed submanifolds of M_N (note that $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}$ may not have positive rank).

Now our proof of Theorem 10 is complete. Q.E.D.

Chapter 2

Computation of Limiting η -invariants in Dimension 3

2.1 Residue Formula of Limiting η -invariants in 3-dimension

This section is devoted to explicit topological residue formulas for $\eta_{(2)}(N)$ where N is an oriented closed 3-manifold which admits a volume collapse with BCG. We shall express $\eta_{(2)}(N)$ in terms of the data from an injective T-structure \mathcal{F} of N; more precisely, the data associated to the natural decomposition of the pair (N, \mathcal{F}) . Since in most cases such decompositions

are unique up to weak isomorphism (Theorem C), the corresponding residue formulas are intrinsic (e.g Theorem D).

We should point out that the methods used in this section are valid for computing $\eta(N,\mathcal{F})$ where \mathcal{F} is a polarized T-structure (possibly without BCG).

As we have already explained in §1.2, we shall carry out the formula (1.2) of Theorem 7. We organize our computation in the following order:

- a. residue formula for $N = \{b; (o, g); (\alpha, \beta)\},\$
- b. residue formula for Seifert manifolds,
- c. residue formula for $\eta(L(p,q),\mathcal{F})$,
- d. residue formula for graph manifolds.

a. Residue formula for $N = \{b; (o, g); (\alpha, \beta)\}$

Before giving the residue formula for general injective Seifert manifolds, let us first consider the simpler case of Seifert manifolds which have only a single exceptional orbit.

Proposition 8 Given an oriented injective Seifert manifold $N = \{b; (o, g), (\alpha, \beta)\},\$ then

$$\eta_{(2)}(N) = -s + \epsilon(b) + \frac{1}{3} \sum_{i=1}^{s} b_i + \frac{\alpha_{s-1}}{3\alpha}$$
(2.1)

where $\frac{\alpha}{\alpha-\beta}=[b_1,...,b_s]$, $\alpha_i=b_i\alpha_{i-1}-\alpha_{i-2}$ with $\alpha_0=1$ and $\alpha_1=b_1$, and $\epsilon(b)=-1$ or 1 if b>-1 or $b\leq -1$ respectively.

Remark 9 Note that M_N is not homeomorphic to M_{-N} (see Remark 8). Thus $\eta_{(2)}(-N) = -\eta_{(2)}(N)$ cannot be seen from (2.1). **Proof.** By applying Lemma 8, we obtain M_N . The injective S^1 -action on N extends to M_N . Note that M_N is formed by plumbing the bundles $\xi = (M_{-b-1}, \pi, Y), \ \xi_i = (M_{-b_i}, \pi_i, S^2)$ successively. Decomposing each base $S_i^2 = B_{i,1} \times D_{i,1} \bigcup_{\phi_i} B_{i,2} \times D_{i,2}$, where

$$\phi_i = \left(egin{array}{cc} -1 & 0 \ b_i & 1 \end{array}
ight)$$

we can express M_N as

and

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{s-1} & \beta_{s-1} \\ \alpha & \beta \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ b_s & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \cdot \cdot \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ b_1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Let X be the velocity vector field of the S^1 -action of M_N and let X_i be the restriction of X on $B_{i,1} \times D_{i,1}$ $(1 \le i \le s)$. Choosing multipolar coordinates on $B_{i,1} \times D_{i,1}$ we write

$$X_i = \alpha_i \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{i,1}} - \alpha_{i+1} \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{i,2}}, \qquad \alpha_0 = 1, \alpha_1 = b_1.$$

We claim that $\alpha_i > \alpha_{i-1} > 0$. We prove this by induction. Assume $\alpha_k > \alpha_{k-1}$ for k = 1, ..., i-1. Since $b_i \geq 2$ and $\frac{\alpha_{i-1}}{\alpha_i} < 1$, then $\alpha_i = b_i \alpha_{i-1} - \alpha_{i-2} = 1$

 $\alpha_i(b_i - \frac{\alpha_{i-1}}{\alpha_i}) > \alpha_i$. From $\alpha_i > 0$ it follows that the fixed point set of X consists of $Z_0 \cup \{0_{1,1} \times 0_{1,1}, 0_{2,1} \times 0_{2,1}, ..., 0_{s,1} \times 0_{s,1}, 0_{s,2} \times 0_{s,2}\}$, where $Z_0 \approx Y$ and each $0_{i,j} \times 0_{i,j}$ is the center of $B_{i,j} \times D_{i,j}$. According to formula (1.2) of Theorem 7,

$$\eta_{(2)}(N) = \sigma(M_N) + Res(X, Z_0) + \sum_{i=1}^s Res(X, 0_{i,1} \times 0_{i,2})
+ Res(X, 0_{s,2} \times 0_{s,2}).$$
(2.2)

We shall compute each term in (2.2) in the following lemmas.

Lemma 10 $\sigma(M_N) = -s + \epsilon(b)$.

Proof. From §2 of [Or] one sees that $\sigma(M_N)$ is equal to the signature of the following matrix:

and A is negative definite if and only if -b-1 < 0. So we only need to show that if $-b-1 \ge 0$ then sig(A) = -s+1. First assume -b-1 > 0; that is, $-b-1 \ge 1$. Given two $n \times n$ matrics A_1 and A_2 . If there is a invertible matrix C such that $A_1 = CA_2C^T$, then we say that A_1 is congruent to A_2

and denote this by " $A_1 \sim A_2$ ". It is easy to see that

$$A \sim \left(egin{array}{ccccc} -b-1 & 0 & & & & & \\ 0 & -b_1 + rac{1}{b+1} & 1 & & & & \\ & & 1 & & & & \\ & & & \ddots & 1 & \\ & & & 1 & -b_s \end{array}
ight).$$

Since $b_1 \geq 2$ and $-b-1 \geq 1$, then $-b_1 + \frac{1}{-b_1-1} < 0$. Consequently, the matrix

$$A_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} -b_{1} + \frac{1}{-b_{1}-1} & 1 & & & \\ 1 & -b_{2} & 1 & & & \\ & & 1 & & \\ & & & \ddots & 1 \\ & & & 1 & -b_{s} \end{pmatrix}$$

is negative definite; i.e., sig(A) = -s + 1.

Now we consider b = -1, i.e., -b - 1 = 0. In this case

Note that $-b_2 + \frac{1}{b_1} < 0$ since $b_i \ge 2$. By the same reason as above we conclude sig(A) = -s + 1. Q.E.D.

The next lemma is concerned with the local residue in the following situations:

- 1) a pure rank one structure at an isolated singular point,
- 2) a pair of pure structures at the isolated singular S^1 -orbit. Take $D_2^2 \times D_2^2 \subset R^2 \times R^2$ (D_2^2 is a 2-disc with radius 2) and let $(\gamma_1, \theta_1, \gamma_2, \theta_2)$ be the multipolar coordinate of R^4 . Put

$$X = a \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_1} + b \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_2} \qquad (ab \neq 0)$$
$$X_i = a_i \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_1} + b_i \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_2} \qquad (i = 1, 2).$$

Suppose $a_1b_1 \neq 0$ and $b_2 \neq 0$. Put $U_1 = D_1^2 \times D_1^2$ and $U_2 = D^2 \times D^2 - U_1$. The local models of 1) and 2) are (U_1, X) and $\{(U_1, X_1), (U_2, X_2)\}$ respectively. Their signlarities are 0×0 and $(0 \times \partial D_1^2) \cup (\partial D_1^2 \times 0)$ respectively.

Lemma 11 Suppose (U, X) and $\{(U_1, X_1), (U_2, X_2)\}$ are given as above. Under the standard orientation of \mathbb{R}^4 ,

$$Res(X, 0 \times 0) = \frac{a}{b} + \frac{b}{a},$$

$$Res(\{X_1, X_2\}, 0 \times \partial D_1^2) = -\frac{a_1}{b_1} + \frac{a_2}{b_2},$$

$$Res(\{X_1, X_2\}, \partial D_1^2 \times 0) = \frac{a_1}{b_1} - \frac{a_2}{b_2}.$$
(2.3)

Now we can finish the proof of Proposition 8. From Lemma 11 we get

$$Res(X, 0_{i,1} \times 0_{i,2}) = \frac{\alpha_{i+1}}{\alpha_i} + \frac{\alpha_i}{\alpha_{i+1}}$$

$$= b_i + \frac{\alpha_i}{\alpha_{i+1}} - \frac{\alpha_{i-1}}{\alpha_i}.$$
(2.4)

Substituting Lemma 10, (2.4) and $Res(X, Z_0) = \frac{b+r}{3}$ into (2.2), a simplification of (2.2) gives (2.1). Q.E.D

b. Residue formula for Seifert manifolds

First, let us restate Theorem D as follows.

Theorem D. Let $N = \{b; (o, g); (\alpha_1, \beta_1), ..., (\alpha_r, \beta_r)\}$ be an injective Seifert manifold, then

$$\eta_{(2)}(N) = -\sum_{i=1}^{r} s_i + \epsilon(b,r) + \frac{1}{3}(b+r) + \frac{1}{3}\sum_{i=1}^{r} \sum_{j=1}^{s_i} b_{ij} + \frac{1}{3}\sum_{i=1}^{r} \frac{\alpha_{i,s_{i-1}}}{\alpha_i}$$
 (2.5)

where $\frac{\alpha_i}{\alpha_i - \beta_i} = [b_{i,1}, ..., b_{i,s_i}], \ \alpha_{i,j} = b_{i,j}\alpha_{i,j-1} - \alpha_{i,j-2}; \ \alpha_{i,0} = 1, \ \alpha_{i,1} = b_{i,1} \ and$

$$\epsilon(b,r) = \begin{cases} -1 & if \ b+r > 0 \\ +1 & if \ b+r \le 0. \end{cases}$$

Note that an injective Seifert manifold admits a volume collapse with BCG (Theorem 5). Thus (2.5) makes sense. Also by Theorem 6, for any volume collapse $\{g_{\delta}\}$ with BCG, the limit $\lim_{\delta \to 0} \eta(N, g_{\delta})$ is given by (2.5).

Corollary 4 Given $N = \{b; (o, g); (\alpha_1, \beta_1), ..., (\alpha_r, \beta_r)\}$ and $N' = \{b'; (o, g); (\alpha_1, \beta_1), ..., (\alpha_r, \beta_r)\}$. Then

$$3\eta_{(2)}(N) = 3\eta_{(2)}(N') \mod Z.$$
 (2.6)

Remark 10 Corollary 4 is valid for $N = \{b; (n_2, g); (\alpha_1, \beta_1), ..., (\alpha_r, \beta_r)\}$. By the same argument as in the proof of Theorem D one can get

$$\eta_{(2)}(N) = \sigma(M_N) + \frac{1}{3}(b+r) + \frac{1}{3}\sum_{i=1}^r \sum_{j=1}^{s_i} b_{ij} + \frac{1}{3}\sum_{i=1}^r \frac{\alpha_{i,s_{i-1}}}{\alpha_i}$$
(2.7)

 $where \ \frac{\alpha_{i}}{\alpha_{i}-\beta_{i}} = [b_{i,1},...,b_{i,s_{i}}], \ \alpha_{i,j} = b_{i,j}\alpha_{i,j-1} - \alpha_{i,j-2}; \ \alpha_{i,0} = 1, \ \alpha_{i,1} = b_{i,1}.$

Remark 11 Due to the same reason as was given in Remark 8, the anti-invariance of $\eta_{(2)}(N)$ under the change of orientation is not obvious from (2.5). However, we can show $\eta_{(2)}(N) = -\eta_{(2)}(-N)$ as follows by using the anti-invariance in Proposition 8.

Given $N = \{b; (o, g); (\alpha_1, \beta_1), ..., (\alpha_r, \beta_r)\}$, then $-N = \{b; (o, g); (\alpha_1, \alpha_1 - \beta_1), ..., (\alpha_r, \alpha_r - \beta_r)\}$. Assume b + r > 0. Putting $N_1 = \{b; (o, g); (\alpha_1, \beta_1)\}$ and $N_i = \{0; (o, g); (\alpha_i, \beta_i)\}$ we can write (compare Proposition 8 with Theorem D)

$$\eta_{(2)}(N) = \sum_{i=0}^{r} \eta_{(2)}(N_i) + (r-1)$$

and

$$\eta_{(2)}(-N) = \sum_{i=0}^{r} \eta_{(2)}(-N_i) - (r-1).$$

Therefore $\eta_{(2)}(-N) = -\eta_{(2)}(N)$ since $\eta_{(2)}(-N_i) = -\eta_{(2)}(N_i)$ for all i.

Proof of Theorem D. From Lemma 8 we have a 4-manifold M_N such that $\partial M_N \approx N$. Note that the S^1 -action on N which gives the Seifert fiber structure extends uniquely over M_N . Applying formula (1.2) of Theorem 7, and using essentially same argument as in the proof of Proposition 8, we deduce the following:

$$\eta_{(2)}(N) = \sigma(M_N) + \frac{1}{3} \sum_{i=1}^r \sum_{j=1}^{s_i} b_{i,j} + \frac{1}{3} (b+r) + \sum_{i=1}^r \frac{\alpha_{i,s_{i-1}}}{3\alpha_i}.$$

Again from [Or] one sees that $\sigma(M_N)$ is equal to the signature of the fol-

lowing symetric matrix ϕ

lowing symetric matrix
$$\phi$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} -b-r & 1 & & & & 1 \\ & -b_{1,1} & 1 & & & & \\ 1 & -b_{1,2} & & & & & \\ & & \ddots & 1 & & & \\ & & 1 & -b_{1,s_1} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} -b_{2,1} & 1 & & & \\ 1 & \ddots & & & \\ & 1 & -b_{1,s_2} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} -b_{r,1} & 1 & & & \\ 1 & \ddots & & & \\ & & 1 & -b_{1,s_r} \end{bmatrix}$$

where each unfilled entry equals zero. Since $b_{i,j} \geq 2$ for all i,j this matrix is easily seen to be negative definite if and only if -b-r < 0. What we shall do is to show that if $-b-r \geq 0$ then $\sigma(M_N) = -\sum_{i=1}^r s_i + 1$. We first prove an algebraic lemma.

Lemma 12 Suppose we are given

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} A_1 - \alpha_0 E_{11}^1 & -\alpha_0 E_{12}^1 & \dots & -\alpha_0 E_{1r}^1 \\ -\alpha_0 E_{21}^1 & A_2 - \alpha_0 E_{22}^1 & \dots & -\alpha_0 E_{2r}^1 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ -\alpha_0 E_{r1}^1 & -\alpha_0 E_{r2}^1 & \dots & A_r - \alpha_0 E_{rr}^1 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$A_i = \left(egin{array}{cccc} -b_{i,1} & 1 & & & & & \\ 1 & -b_{i,2} & 1 & & & & \\ & & 1 & & & & \\ & & & \ddots & 1 & & \\ & & & 1 & -b_{i,s_i} \end{array}
ight)_{m_i imes m_i},$$

and $E_{ij}^k = (a_{ij})$ is the $m_i \times m_j$ matrix with $a_{k1} = 1$ and all other entries equal to zero. Suppose $\alpha_0 > 0$ and $b_{i,j} \geq 2$. Then A is negative definite.

Proof. We proceed by induction on r. The case of r=1 is just Lemma 10. Assume Lemma 12 holds for r-1. In what follows we shall perform a congruence transformation on A to make A_1^1 diagnal and E_{1i}^1 and E_{i1}^1 vanish simultaneously $(1 \le i \le r)$. In the first step we see the following

$$A \sim A^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} A_{1}^{1} & -a_{1}E_{12}^{2} & \dots & -a_{1}E_{1r}^{2} \\ -a_{1}E_{21}^{2} & A_{2} - (\alpha_{0} - \alpha_{1})E_{22}^{1} & \dots & -(\alpha_{0} - \alpha_{1})E_{2r}^{1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ -a_{1}E_{r1}^{2} & -(\alpha_{0} - \alpha_{1})E_{r2}^{1} & \dots & A_{r} - (\alpha_{0} - \alpha_{1})E_{rr}^{1} \end{pmatrix}$$

where

$$A_1^1 = \begin{pmatrix} -(b_{1,1} + \alpha_0) & & & & \\ & -(b_{1,2} - \tilde{a}_1) & 1 & & \\ & 1 & -b_{1,3} & & \\ & & \ddots & 1 \\ & & 1 & -b_{i,s_1} \end{pmatrix}_{m_1 \times m_1},$$

$$\tilde{a}_1 = \frac{1}{b_{1,1} + \alpha_0}$$
, $\tilde{a}_1 = \frac{\alpha_0}{b_{1,1} + \alpha_0}$ and $\alpha_1 = \frac{\alpha_0^2}{b_{1,1} + \alpha_0}$. In the second step we get

$$A \sim A^{1} \sim A^{2} = \begin{pmatrix} A_{1}^{2} & -a_{2}E_{12}^{3} & \dots & -a_{2}E_{1r}^{3} \\ -a_{2}E_{21}^{3} & A_{2} - (\alpha_{0} - \alpha_{1} - \alpha_{2})E_{22}^{1} & \dots & (\alpha_{0} - \alpha_{1} - \alpha_{2})E_{2r}^{1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ -a_{2}E_{r1}^{3} & -(\alpha_{0} - \alpha_{1} - \alpha_{2})E_{r2}^{1} & \dots & A_{r} - (\alpha_{0} - \alpha_{1} - \alpha_{2})E_{rr}^{1} \end{pmatrix}$$
 where

where
$$A_1^2 = \begin{pmatrix} -(b_{1,1} + \alpha_0) & & & \\ & -(b_{1,2} - \tilde{a}_1) & & & \\ & & -(b_{1,3} - \tilde{a}_2) & 1 & \\ & & 1 & \\ & & \ddots & 1 \\ & & 1 & -b_{i,s_1} \end{pmatrix}_{m_1 \times m_1},$$

 $\tilde{a}_2 = \frac{1}{b_{1,2} - \tilde{a}_1}$, $a_2 = \frac{a_1^2}{b_{1,2} - \tilde{a}_1}$ and $\alpha_2 = \frac{\alpha_1^2}{b_{1,2} - \alpha_2}$. After the s_1 -steps we find

$$A \sim A^{s_1} = \begin{pmatrix} A_1^{s_1} & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & A_2 - (\alpha_0 - \sum_{i=1}^{s_1} \alpha_i) E_{22}^1 & \dots & -(\alpha_0 - \sum_{i=1}^{s_1} \alpha_i) E_{2r}^1 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ 0 & -(\alpha_0 - \sum_{i=1}^{s_1} \alpha_i) E_{r2}^1 & \dots & A_r - (\alpha_0 - \sum_{i=1}^{s_1} \alpha_i) E_{rr}^1 \end{pmatrix}$$

with

$$A_1^{s_1} = \begin{pmatrix} -(b_{1,1} + \alpha_0) \\ -(b_{1,2} - \tilde{a}_1) \\ -(b_{1,3} - \tilde{a}_2) \\ & \ddots \\ -(b_{i,s_1} - \tilde{a}_{s_1-1}) \end{pmatrix}_{m_1 \times m_1}$$

$$\begin{split} &\alpha_1 = \frac{\alpha_0^2}{b_{1,1} + \alpha_0}, \quad \alpha_{i+1} = \frac{a_i^2}{b_{1,i+1} - \tilde{a}_i} \\ &a_1 = \frac{\alpha_0}{b_{1,1} + \alpha_0}, \quad a_{i+1} = \frac{a_i}{b_{1,i} - \tilde{a}_i} \qquad (i = 1, ..., s_1 - 1) \\ &\tilde{a}_1 = \frac{1}{b_{1,1} + \alpha_0}, \quad \tilde{a}_{i+1} = \frac{1}{b_{1,i+1} - \tilde{a}_i}. \end{split}$$

To apply the inductive assumption on A^{s_1} we only need to verify

$$\alpha_0 - \sum_{i=1}^{s_1} \alpha_i > 0. {(2.8)}$$

We first estimate α_i by starting at α_2 ;

$$\alpha_2 = \frac{a_1^2}{b_{1,2} - \tilde{a}_1} = \frac{(\frac{\alpha_0}{b_{1,1} + \alpha_0})^2}{b_{1,2} - \frac{1}{b_{1,1} + \alpha_0}} = \frac{\alpha_1}{b_{1,2}(b_{1,1} + \alpha_0) - 1}.$$

Put

$$c(\alpha_0) = \frac{1}{b_{1,2}(b_{1,1} + \alpha_0) - 1}$$

and we have $\alpha_2 = \alpha_1 c(\alpha_0)$. We claim that $\alpha_k < \frac{\alpha_1 c(\alpha_0)}{2^{k-2}}$ for $k = 2, ..., s_1$. We prove this by induction. Assume $\alpha_k < \frac{\alpha_1 c(\alpha_0)}{2^{k-2}}$. Then

$$\begin{array}{ll} \alpha_{k+1} &= \frac{a_k^2}{b_{1,k+1} - \tilde{a}_k} = \frac{(\frac{a_{k-1}}{b_{1,k} - \tilde{a}_k})^2}{b_{1,k+1} - \frac{1}{b_{1,k} - \tilde{a}_{k-1}}} \\ &= \frac{a_{k-1}^2}{b_{1,k} - \tilde{a}_{k-1}} \cdot \frac{1}{b_{1,k+1}(b_{1,k} - \tilde{a}_{k-1}) - 1} = \frac{\alpha_k}{b_{1,k+1}(b_{1,k} - \tilde{a}_{k-1}) - 1} \\ &= \frac{\alpha_1 c(\alpha_0)}{2^{k-2}} \cdot \frac{1}{b_{1,k+1}(b_{1,k} - \tilde{a}_{k-1}) - 1} \leq \frac{\alpha_1 c(\alpha_0)}{2^{k-1}} \end{array}$$

since $b_{i,j} \geq 2$ and $\tilde{a}_i < 1/2$ and hence $b_{1,k+1}(b_{1,k} - \tilde{a}_{k-1}) - 1 \geq 2$. Then we estimate (2.7) as follows:

$$\begin{split} \alpha_0 - \sum_{i=1}^{s_1} \alpha_i &> \alpha_0 - \alpha_1 (1 + c(\alpha_0) \sum_{i=2}^{s_1} \frac{1}{2^{i-2}}) \\ &> \alpha_0 - \alpha_1 (1 + 2c(\alpha_0)) \\ &= \alpha_0 - \frac{\alpha_0^2}{b_{1,1} + \alpha_0} \cdot (1 + \frac{2}{b_{1,1}(b_{1,2} + \alpha_0) - 1}) \\ &= \alpha_0 (1 - \frac{\alpha_0}{b_{1,1} + \alpha_0} \cdot \frac{b_{1,1}(b_{1,2} + \alpha_0) + 1}{b_{1,1}(b_{1,2} + \alpha_0) - 1}) \geq 0 \end{split}$$

$$\frac{\alpha_{0}}{b_{1,1}+\alpha_{0}} \cdot \frac{b_{1,1}(b_{1,2}+\alpha_{0})+1}{b_{1,1}(b_{1,2}+\alpha_{0})-1} \leq 1$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \alpha_{0}(b_{1,1}b_{1,2}+b_{1,1}\alpha_{0}+1) \leq (b_{1,1}+\alpha_{0})(b_{1,1}b_{1,2}+b_{1,1}\alpha_{0}+1)$$

$$\Leftrightarrow 2\alpha_{0} \leq b_{1,1}^{2}\alpha_{0}+b_{1,1}^{2}b_{1,2}-b_{1,1}.$$
(2.9)

The last inequality in (2.8) is obvious since $b_{i,j} \geq 2$. Since $\alpha_0 - \sum_{i=1}^{s_1} \alpha_i > 0$, our proof is complete by our inductive assumption. Q.E.D.

Now we return to the proof of Theorem D.

First assume b+r<0, i.e., $b+r\leq -1$. It is easy to see that

$$\phi \sim \begin{pmatrix} -b-r & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & A_1 + \frac{1}{b+r}E_{11}^1 & \dots & \frac{1}{b+r}E_{1r}^1 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{b+r}E_{21}^1 & \dots & \frac{1}{b+r}E_{2r}^1 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ 0 & \frac{1}{b+r}E_{r1}^1 & \dots & A_r + \frac{1}{b+r}E_{rr}^1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Since $b+r \leq -1$, by applying Lemma 12 we obtain $sig(\phi) = -\sum_{i=1}^{r} s_i - 1$. Now consider b+r = 0. By performing the same diagonalization procedure to ϕ as done in the proof of Lemma 12 we find

$$\phi \sim \left(egin{array}{ccccc} A_1^{s_1} & 0 & & 0 \ 0 & A_2 - lpha_0 E_{22}^1 & & -lpha_0 E_{2r}^1 \ dots & dots & & dots \ 0 & -lpha_0 E_{r2}^1 & & A_r - lpha_0 E_{rr}^1 \end{array}
ight);$$

$$A_1^{s_1} = \begin{pmatrix} -b_{1,1} & & & & \\ & \frac{1}{b_{1,1}} & & & \\ & & -(b_{1,3} - \tilde{a}_2) & & & \\ & & & \ddots & & \\ & & & -(b_{i,s_1} - \tilde{a}_{s_1-1}) \end{pmatrix}_{m_1 \times m_1}$$

 $\alpha_0 = b_{1,1} - \sum_{i=2}^{s_1} \alpha_i$; $\tilde{a}_2 = a_2 = \alpha_2 = \frac{1}{b_{1,1}}$; $\tilde{a}_k = \frac{1}{b_{1,k} - \tilde{a}_{k-1}}$; $a_k = \frac{a_{k-1}}{b_{1,k} - \tilde{a}_{k-1}}$ and $\alpha_k = \frac{a_{k-1}^2}{b_{1,k} - \tilde{a}_{k-1}}$ $(k = 3, ..., s_1)$. By using the essentially the same method as used in the proof of Lemma 12, one gets $\alpha_k < \frac{1}{2^{k-2}}$. Thus

$$\alpha_0 = b_{1,1} - \sum_{i=2}^{s_1} \alpha_i = b_{1,1} - \alpha_2 \left(1 + \sum_{i=3}^{s_1} \frac{1}{2^{k-2}}\right)$$

$$> b_{1,1} - \frac{1}{b_{1,1}} \left(1 + \frac{1}{2^{k-2}}\right) > b_{1,1} - \frac{2}{b_{1,1}} \ge 1.$$

$$(b_{1,1} \ge 2)$$

Consequently $sig(\phi) = -\sum_{i=1}^{r} s_i + 1$ (Lemma 12). The proof of Theorem D is now complete. Q.E.D.

c. Residue formula for $\eta(L(p,q),\mathcal{F})$

To prepare for deriving the topological residue formula for limiting η -invariants in general, we need to compute the limiting η -invariant associated with a non-pure polarized T-structure on a lens space.

Taking two copies of a solid torus $D \times S^1$ and parameterizing them in multipolar coordinates $(r_i, \theta_{i,1}, \theta_{i,2})$ (i = 1, 2), one forms a lens space L(p, q) by glueing $D_1 \times S_1^1$ with $D_2 \times S_2^1$ along their boundaries by the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} u & v \\ p & q \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ b_r & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \cdot \cdot \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ b_1 & 1 \end{pmatrix};$$

where $\frac{p}{q} = [b_1, ..., b_s]$. Let

$$X_i = a_i \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{i,1}} + \tilde{a}_i \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{i,1}}$$
 $(i = 1, 2)$

be defined in a neighborhood U_i of $D_i \times S_i^1$. Assume $\tilde{a}_1 \tilde{a}_2 \neq 0$. Then $\mathcal{F}(X_1, X_2) = \{(U_1, X_1), (U_2, X_2)\}$ determines a non-pure polarized T-structure of L(p, q).

We shall compute the precise value for the limiting η -invariant associated to $\mathcal{F}(X_1, X_2)$ in the fashion of [Ya] (we refer to [Ya] for more details).

First we fill in L(p,q) with a 4-manifold M_N by using equivariant plumbing. Suppose we are given a linear graph $\Gamma[b_1,...,b_s]$:

$$(-b_1)$$
____ $(-b_2)$ ____ $(-b_s)$

The following lemma is elementary.

Lemma 13 The boundary of the equivariant linear plumbing M_{Γ} according to the graph $\Gamma[b_1,...,b_s]$ above, is the lens space L(p,q) where

$$\frac{p}{q} = b_1 - \frac{1}{b_2 - \frac{1}{b_3 - \frac{1}{\dots - \frac{1}{b_r}}}} = [b_1, \dots, b_s], \qquad b_i \ge 2.$$
 (2.10)

Proof. See Lemma 1 of §2, [Or]. Q.E.D.

To see $M_{L(p,q)}$ clearly, we express it as follows.

and

$$\phi_i = \left(egin{array}{cc} -1 & 0 \ b_i & 1 \end{array}
ight).$$

We make the following observation:

- 1) $\sigma(M_{L(p,q)}) = -s 1$. (Lemma 10).
- 2) An S^1 -action on $B_{1,1} \times \partial D_{1,1}(B_{r,2} \times \partial D_{r,2}) \subset L(p,q)$ extends to a unique S^1 -action over $M_{L(p,q)}$.
- 3) Consider the natural inclusion map $(i,j): B_{i,j} \times D_{i,j} \hookrightarrow R^2 \times R^2 = R^4$ $(1 \leq i,j \leq r)$. Clearly, either (i,j) does preserve orientation for all (i,j) or does not for all (i,j). The orientation convention of $M_{L(p,q)}$ is taken so that (i,1) is a orientation preserving under the standard orientation on R^4 .

From 2) one may view X_1 (X_2) as defined on a neighborhood of $B_{1,1} \times \partial D_{1,1}$ ($B_{r,2} \times \partial D_{r,2}$). We may choose $\tilde{\mathcal{F}} = \{(U_0, X_0), (U_1, X_1), (U_2, X_2)\}$

where U_0 is the interior of $M_{L(p,q)}$ and X_0 is generated by

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{1,1}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{1,1}}$$

on $B_{1,1} \times D_{1,1}$.

Let $X_0^{(i)}$ denote the restriction of X_0 to $B_{i,1} \times D_{i,1}$ and put

$$X_0^{(i)} = \alpha_i \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{i,1}} - \alpha_{i+1} \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{i,2}}.$$

We then have $0 < \alpha_i = b_i \alpha_{i-1} - \alpha_{i-2}$; $\alpha_0 = 1$ and $\alpha_1 = 1$ (i = 2, ..., s) (see page 54).

The stratified set of $M_{L(p,q)}$ subordinate to $\{U_1, U_2, U_3\}$ and compatible with $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}$, is $\{M_0, M_1, M_2, M_{(0,1)}, M_{(0,2)}\}$ where

$$M_{1} = B_{1,1}(1/2) \times A_{1,1}; \quad A_{1,1} = D_{1,1} - D_{1,1}(1/2)$$

$$M_{2} = B_{r,2}(1/2) \times A_{r,2}; \quad A_{r,2} = D_{r,2} - D_{r,2}(1/2)$$

$$M_{0} = M(p,q) - M_{1} \bigcup M_{2}$$

$$M_{(0,1)} = \bar{M}_{0} \cap \bar{M}_{1} = B_{1,1}(1/2) \times \partial D(1/2)$$

$$M_{(0,2)} = \bar{M}_{0} \cap \bar{M}_{2} = B_{r,2} \times \partial D_{r,2}(1/2)$$

and the singularity Z of $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}$ is $Z_0 \cup Z_{(0,1)} \cup Z_{(0,2)}$, where

$$\begin{split} Z_0 &= \{0_{1,1} \times 0_{1,1}, 0_{2,1} \times 0_{2,1}, ..., 0_{r,1} \times 0_{r,1}, 0_{r,2} \times 0_{r,2}\} \subseteq M_0 \\ Z_{(0,1)} &= 0_{1,2} \times \partial D_{1,2}(1/2) \subseteq M_{(0,1)} \\ Z_{(0,2)} &= 0_{r,2} \times \partial D_{r,2}(1/2) \subseteq M_{(0,2)}, \end{split}$$

 $B_{1,1}(1/2)$ is the ball of radius 1/2, and $0_{i,1} \times 0_{i,1}$ is the center of $B_{i,1} \times D_{i,1}$. Under the same orientation convention as in 3), from Lemma 11 one gets

$$Res(X_0^{(i)}, 0_{i,1} \times 0_{i,1}) = \frac{\alpha_i}{\alpha_{i+1}} + \frac{\alpha_{i+1}}{\alpha_i} = b_i + \frac{\alpha_i}{\alpha_{i+1}} - \frac{\alpha_{i-1}}{\alpha_i}$$

$$Res(\{X_0^{(1)}, X_1\}, 0_{1,2} \times \partial D_{1,2}(1/2)) = -\frac{a_1}{\tilde{a}_1} + \frac{\alpha_0}{\alpha_1}$$

$$Res(\{X_0^{(s)}, X_2\}, 0_{r,2} \times \partial D_{s,2}(1/2)) = -\frac{a_s}{\tilde{a}_s} + \frac{\alpha_{s-1}}{\alpha_s}.$$
(2.11)

Substituting 1) and (2.10) into formula (1.2) of Theorem 7, one deduces:

$$\eta(L(p,q),\mathcal{F}) = \sigma(M_{L(p,q)}) + \frac{1}{3} \sum_{i=1}^{s} Res(X_{0}^{(i)}, 0_{i,1} \times 0_{i,1})
+ Res(\{X_{0}^{(1)}, X_{1}\}, 0_{1,2} \times \partial D_{1,2}(1/2))
+ Res(\{X_{0}^{(s)}, X_{2}\}, 0_{r,2} \times \partial D_{s,2}(1/2))
= -s - 1 + \frac{1}{3} \sum_{i=1}^{s} (b_{i} + \frac{\alpha_{i}}{\alpha_{i+1}} - \frac{\alpha_{i-1}}{\alpha_{i}}) - \frac{a_{1}}{3\tilde{a}_{1}} + \frac{\alpha_{0}}{3\alpha_{1}} - \frac{a_{s}}{3\tilde{a}_{s}} + \frac{\alpha_{s-1}}{3\alpha_{s}}
= -s - 1 + \frac{1}{3} \sum_{i=1}^{s} b_{i} - \frac{1}{3} (\frac{a_{1}}{\tilde{a}_{1}} + \frac{a_{2}}{\tilde{a}_{2}}).$$
(2.12)

We summarize the above discusion in the following lemma.

Lemma 14 Given L(p,q) and $\mathcal{F}(X_1,X_2)$ as above, then under the orientation convention,

$$\eta(L(p,q),\mathcal{F}(X_1,X_2)) = -s - 1 + \frac{1}{3} \sum_{i=1}^{s} b_i - \frac{1}{3} (\frac{a_1}{\tilde{a}_1} + \frac{a_2}{\tilde{a}_2}). \tag{2.13}$$

d. Residue formula for graph manifolds

Let N be an oriented closed 3-manifold and let \mathcal{F} be an injective Tstructure of N. Taking the natural decomposition $\mathcal{D}(N,\mathcal{F}) = \{N_1,...,N_k,\phi_1,...,\phi_l\}$ of (N,\mathcal{F}) as in part c of §1.6, we fill in N with the 4-manifold M_N and extend \mathcal{F} to $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}$ over M_N . We recall the following:

- 1) There are submanifolds $M_{\tilde{N}_e}$ and $M_{L(p_f,q_f)}$ of M_N where $M_{\tilde{N}_e}$ is the filling of the Seifert manifold $\tilde{N}_e = \{b_e; (\epsilon, g_e); (\alpha_{e,1}, \beta_{e,1}), ..., (\alpha_{e,r_e}, \beta_{e,r_e})\}$ as in Lemma 8 and $M_{L(p_f,q_f)}$ is the filling of the lens space $L(p_f,q_f)$ as in Lemma 13. Note that $M_{\tilde{N}_e} \cap M_{L(p_f,q_f)} \approx D_e \times D_f$.
- 2) Denote by \mathcal{F}_e and \mathcal{F}'_f the restriction of \mathcal{F} to N_e and $L(p_f, q_f)$ respectively. Then the restriction $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_e$ of $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}$ to $M_{\tilde{N}_e}$, is as in Theorem D and the restriction $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}'_f$ of $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}$ on $M_{L(p_f,q_f)}$, is as in Lemma 13 with specifying $a_{e,1} = a_{e,2} = 0$. From formula (1.2) of Theorem 7 we can write

$$\eta_{(2)}(M_N) = \sigma(M_N) + \frac{1}{3} \left[\sum_{e=1}^k Res(M_{\tilde{N}_e}, \tilde{\mathcal{F}}_e) + \sum_{f=1}^l Res(M_{L(p_f, q_f)}, \tilde{\mathcal{F}}_f') \right]. \tag{2.14}$$

From the proof of Theorem D and Lemma 13, we have

$$Res(M_{\tilde{N}_e}, \tilde{\mathcal{F}}_e) = \frac{1}{3} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{r_e} \sum_{j=1}^{s_i} b_{e,i,j} + b_e + r_e + \sum_{i=1}^{r_e} \frac{\alpha_{e,i,s_i-1}}{\alpha_{e,i}} \right)$$

$$Res(M_{L(p_f,q_f)}, \tilde{\mathcal{F}}_f') = \frac{1}{3} \sum_{j=1}^{r_f'} \epsilon_f c_{f,j}$$
(2.15)

where $\epsilon_f = 1$, or -1 depending on whether or not the induced orientation on $L(p_f, q_f)$ agrees with the orientation convention of $L(p_f, q_f)$ (see 3), part **c** of §2.1). Substituting (2.15) into (2.14) and simplifying (2.14) we then obtain the following theorem.

Theorem 11 Let N be an oriented compact 3-manifold and let \mathcal{F} be an injective T-structure. For the natural decomposition $\mathcal{D}(N,\mathcal{F})=\{N_1,...,N_l,\phi_1,...,\phi_l\}$ of (N,\mathcal{F}) as above, we have

$$\eta_{(2)}(N) = \eta(N, \mathcal{F})
= \sigma(M_N) + \frac{1}{3} \left[\sum_{e=1}^k \left(\sum_{i=1}^{r_e} \sum_{j=1}^{s_i} b_{e,i,j} + (b_e + r_e) \right) \right]
+ \sum_{i=1}^{r_e} \frac{\alpha_{e,i,s_i-1}}{\alpha_{e,i}} + \frac{1}{3} \sum_{f=1}^l \sum_{j=1}^{r_f} \epsilon_f c_{f,j}.$$
(2.16)

Remark 12 If \mathcal{F} has no exceptional orbits that is, each N_i has no exceptional orbit as a Seifert fiber space for all i then $3\eta_{(2)}(N)$ is an integer. Equivalently, the rational portion of $3\eta_{(2)}(N)$ is determined by the exceptional orbits of \mathcal{F} .

Corollary 5 Under the same assumption as in Theorem 11, if N is a solve manifold then $3\eta_{(2)}(N) = 0 \mod Z$.

Proof. To apply Theorem 4, we only need to find an injective T-structure of N without exceptional orbits. Note that an oriented 3-dimensional solve manifold N_{ϕ} is a T^2 -bundle over S^1 with monodromy matrix:

$$\phi = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}, \qquad det(\phi) = -1.$$

N is formed by identifying the boundary of $[0,1] \times T^2$ via φ . Writing T^2 as $S_1^1 \times S_2^1$, we choose an injective T-structure \mathcal{F}_0 of N_{ϕ} as follows. Let $\partial/\partial\theta_i(i=1,2)$ be the velocity vector of rotation on S_i^1 and let U be an invariant neighborhood of $\{0\} \times T^2$ in N_{φ} . Since \mathcal{F}_0 is determined by $\{((\epsilon, 1-\epsilon) \times T^2, \partial/\partial\theta_2), (U, \partial/\partial\theta_1, \partial/\partial\theta_2)\}$, then \mathcal{F}_0 has no exceptional orbits. Note that the natural decomposition of $(N_{\varphi}, \mathcal{F}_0)$ is given by:

$$\mathcal{D}(N, \mathcal{F}_0) = \{ [0, 1] \times S_1^1 \times S_2^1, \phi \}. \tag{2.17}$$

Q.E.D.

2.2 A finiteness Result for Limiting η -Invariants

For a real number D > 0, let $\mathcal{M}^3(D)$ be the collection of closed orientable 3-manifolds which admit a volume collapse with BCG. According to Theorem

E, $\{\eta_{(2)}(N) \mod mZ | N \in \mathcal{M}^3(D)\}$ is a finite set. Before giving the proof of Theorem E, we make some remarks.

Remark 13 1) The set $\mathcal{M}^3(D)$ contains infinitely many topological types for any D>0. For instance, a 3-nilmanifold admits a diameter collapse (hence a volume collapse) with BCG and there are infinitely many non-differmorphise classes of 3-nilmanifolds.

2) The size of $\{\eta_{(2)}(N) \mod Z | N \in \mathcal{M}^3(D)\}$ depends on the number D. For example, if $D < \exp(-\exp(\exp 9))$, then $\{\eta_{(2)}(N) \mod mZ | N \in \mathcal{M}^3(D)\} = \{0, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}\}$ (Corollary 5) since the elments in $\mathcal{M}^3(\exp(-\exp(\exp 9)))$ are nilmanifolds ([Gr1]).

Proof of Thoerem E. First, from Proposition 5 and Theorem B we identify the elements in $\mathcal{M}^3(N)$ as either injective Seifert manifolds or solve manifolds. Since $3\eta_{(2)}(N) \mod Z = 0$ (Corollary 5), we only need to consider the elements in $\mathcal{M}^3(D)$ which are injective Seifert manifolds.

We proceed by contradiction. Assuming the opposite, we then have a sequence of injective Seifert manifolds $\{N_i\}$ in $\mathcal{M}^3(D)$ such that $\{\eta_{(2)}(N_i) \mod Z\}$ is an infinite set. By Gromov's pre-compactness theorem ([GLP]), we may assume $\{N_i\}$ converges to a lower-dimensional metric space Y, since each N_i admits a sufficiently volume collapsed metric with diameter bounded by D.

We split the following proof according to dim(Y).

Case I. dim(Y) = 0. This amounts to saying that $diam(N_i) \to 0$. It follows from a well-known result in [Gr1] that all but finitely many of $\{N_i\}$ are identified as infranilmanifols. Thus $\{\eta_{(2)}(N_i) \mod Z\} = \{0, 1/3, 2/3\}$

for i sufficiently large (Corollary 4). This contradicts our assumption on $\{N_i\}$.

Case II. dim(Y) = 1. Y is homeomorphic to either an interval [0,1] or S^1 . Note that if $Y \approx S^1$, then N_i are solve manifolds and Thoerem E have been proved in this case (Corollary 5). If $Y \approx [0,1]$, then N_i are trivial T^2 -bundles with isolated S^1 -orbits over 0 and 1 (Theorem 6). So the N_i are actually T^2 -manifolds for large i. Since $\pi_1(N_j)$ are not finite we then identify N_i as either $S^2 \times S^1$ or T^3 ([Ne]). Thus we get the same contradiction as in case I.

Case III. dim(Y) = 2. In this case, the limit space Y can be viewed as the base space of the the injective Seifert manifold N_i for all large i (Proposition 5). Note that Y is a orbifold since $Y \approx N/O(3)$ as in Theorem 3. Denote by $y_1, ..., y_k$ all the singular points of Y. Thus each N_i has exactly k exceptional orbits and the same base space. Write

$$N_i = \{b_i; (\epsilon_i, g); (\alpha_{i,1}, \beta_{i,1}), ..., (\alpha_{i,k}, \beta_{i,k})\}$$
(2.18)

where g is the genus of Y. From Corollary 4 one sees that the invariant b_i contributes only integers to $3\eta_{(2)}(N_i)$. Therefore, to show $\{\eta_{(2)}(N_i) \mod Z\}$ is finite it is enough to show that the Seifert invariants (2.18) is finite up to the invariant b_i for all i.

For convenience, we define the e-norm, " $|| ||_e$ ", for a Seifert manifold

$$N = \{b; (\epsilon, g); (\alpha_1, \beta_1), ..., (\alpha_k, \beta_k)\}.$$

We define

$$||N||_e = max\{\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_k\}.$$
 (2.19)

We claim that $\{||N_i||_e\}$ is a finite set (thus, (2.18) is finite up to the invariants b_i). We prove this by contradiction.

Assuming the opposite, we then have a sequence $\{(\alpha_{i,j}, \beta_{i,j})\}((\alpha_{i,j}, \beta_{i,j}) \in N_i)$ such that $\alpha_{i,j} \to \infty (j \to \infty)$. We can also assume that the exceptional orbits in N_i corresponding to the $(\alpha_{i,j}, \beta_{i,j})$ are the preimages of some fixed y_j , say, y_1 .

Choose a small metric balls $B_{\delta}(y_1)$ (with δ fixed) at y_1 such that $\pi_i^{-1}(B_{\delta}(y_1))$ in N_i is a solid torus for all i sufficiently large. Note that for sufficiently large $i, B_{\delta}(y_1)$ can be viewed as the base space of the S^1 -action on $\pi_i^{-1}(B_{\delta}(y_1))$ determined by the exceptional orbit invariants $(\alpha_{i,1}, \beta_{i,1})$ with the isotropy group $Z_{\alpha_{i,1}}$. Since $diam(\pi_i^{-1}(B_{\delta}(y_1))) \leq D$ and $\alpha_{i,1} \to \infty$, the limiting of the orbit spaces $\pi^{-1}(B_{\delta}(y_1))/Z_{\alpha_i}$ must be of dimension 1. This contradicts $dim(B_{\delta}(y_1)) = dim(Y) = 2$.

By now the proof of Theorem E has been completed. Q.E.D.

Chapter 3

Bounded Good Choppings

3.1 Bounded Good Choppings

In this section, we wil prove Theorem F. As an application of Theorem F, we obtain a bounded version of Cheeger-Gromov's existence of good choppings theorem ([CG5]). First, let us recall the main result in [CG5] as follows.

Theorem 12 ([CG5]). Let M^n be a complete manifold with bounded sectional curvature, $|K| \leq 1$. Given $X \subset M^n, 0 < r \leq 1$, there is a submanifold U^n with smooth boundary ∂U^n such that for some constant c(n)

depending on n,

$$X \subset U^n \subset T_r(X) \tag{3.1}$$

$$Vol(\partial U) \le c(n)Vol(T_r(X))r^{-1}$$
(3.2)

$$||II_{\partial U}|| \le c(n)r^{-1}$$
 (3.3)

Moreover U^n can be chosen to be invariant under I(r,X), where I(r,X) denote the group of isometries of $T_r(X)$ which fix X.

Remark 14 If M^n admit a positive rank F-structure \mathcal{F} and X is invariant, then U^n can be chosen invariant under \mathcal{F} .

Theorem F. Under the same assumptions as in Theorem 12. Let $D = diam(X) = sup\{dist(x,y)| \ x,y \in X\}$. Then there exists a constant, c(n,r,D), depending on n, r and D, such that

$$diam(\partial U) \le c(n, r, D).$$

An important application of Theorem F is a bounded version of the following Cheeger-Gromov's good chopping theorem.

Theorem 13 ([CG5]) Let M^n be complete, $|K| \leq 1$, $Vol(M^n) < \infty$. Then M^n admits an exhaustion $M^n = \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} M_j^n$, by manifolds with smooth boundary, such that

$$\lim_{j\to\infty} Vol(\partial M_j^n) = 0,$$
$$||II_{M_j^n}|| \le c(n).$$

In order to state a bounded version of Theorem 12, we define the following. Definition 10 Let M be a complete manifold. M is said have finite diameter at infinity, if there is a point $p \in M$ so that $\sup_{r>0} \{\sum_{\alpha} diam((T_1(\partial B_r(p)))_{\alpha})\} < \infty$, where $B_r(p)$ is the metric ball of radius r with center at p and $(T_1(\partial B_r(p)))_{\alpha}$ is a component of the 1-tubular neighborhood of $\partial B_r(p)$.

Let S be a connected submanifold of M. For $x, y \in S$, let $\gamma_{x,y}$ be a path in S from x to y. We define

$$dist_s(x,y) = inf_{\gamma_{x,y}}\{L(\gamma_{x,y})\}.$$

Theorem 14 Under the same assumption as in Theorem 13. Suppose M has finite diameter at infinity. Then the good chopping choppings as in Theorem 12 can be choosen so that the set $\{diam_s(\partial M_j)\}$ is bounded. Where $diam_s(\partial M_i) = \sum_{\alpha} diam_s((M_i)_{\alpha})$ and the sum runs over all components of ∂M_i .

Proof. That M has finite diameter at infinity means that there is a constant D > 0 and a point $p \in M$ so that $\sup_{r>0} \{\sum_{\alpha} diam((T_1(\partial B_r(p)))_{\alpha})\} \le D$. Since $T_1(\partial B_r(p))$ has at most [D] (the integer part of D) components, applying Theorem F to $\partial B_r(p)$, we complete the proof. Q.E.D.

We need several lemmas to prove Theorem F. The first lemma is about the local isolate property of ∂U^n .

Lemma 15 Under the same assumption as Theorem 12. Then there is a constant $\rho(n,r) > 0$ depending only on n and r so that for $x \in \partial U^n$, $B_{\rho(n,r)}(x) \cap \partial U^n$ is connected.

Proof. The proof is based on the concrete construction for U^n given in [CG5]. Let us first recall the following from [CG5]:

Let g be the Riemannian metric of M. Then there exists a Riemannian metric \tilde{g} such that

$$(\frac{5}{6})^2g \le \tilde{g} \le (\frac{6}{5})^2g$$

Denote by "|| ||" the norm determined by \tilde{g} . Clearly, it is enough to prove the lemma only for the metric \tilde{g} .

Roughly, ∂U^n is a level set of the smooth function $F:M\to R^1$ which satisfies the conditions:

(i) there are constants $0 < \delta(n) < 1$ and $\epsilon(n) > 0$ depending only on n such that

$$||grad F(x)|| \le 2 \qquad x \in M,$$

$$||grad F(x)|| \ge \epsilon(n) \qquad x \in F^{-1}([0, \delta(n)r]),$$
(3.4)

- (ii) $\partial U^n = F^{-1}(y), y \in \left[\frac{1}{3} \cdot \delta(n)r, \frac{2}{3} \cdot \delta(n)r\right].$
- (i) and (iii) implies
- (iii) ∂U^n has a tubular neighborhood $F^{-1}([y-\frac{1}{4}\cdot\delta(n)r,y+\frac{1}{4}\cdot\delta(n)r])$. where the

Then we observe the following:

For $x \in \partial U^n$, let x' be in the grad F-flow line through x such that $x' \in F^{-1}([0, y - \frac{1}{4}\delta(n)r] \cup [y + \frac{1}{4}\delta(n)r, \delta(n)r])$. Let $\gamma : [0, l] \to M$ be the integral curve of $\frac{grad F}{||grad F||}$, $\gamma(0) = x$ and $\gamma(l) = x'$. We claim

$$\frac{\delta(n)r}{8} \le l \tag{3.5}$$

Our claim is proved in the following:

$$\begin{array}{ll} \frac{\delta(n)r}{4} & \leq |F(x) - F(x')| = |F(\gamma(0)) - F(\gamma(l))| \\ & = \int_0^l |\dot{F}(\gamma(t))| dt = \int_0^l | < grad F(\gamma(t)), \dot{\gamma}(t) > |dt \\ & \leq \int_0^l ||grad F(\gamma(t))|| dt \leq 2 \cdot l \qquad (by(3.4)). \end{array}$$

This implies that starting at ∂U^n , one can flow along the integral curves of gradF at least $\frac{\delta(n)r}{8}$ units without hitting ∂U^n again.

Now we begin the proof. We shall first put an additional assumption that the injectivity radii is at least 1 everywhere on M. Then we will explain how we can reduce this case by lifting to the tangent space.

First we observe that Lemma 15 is trivial where M^n is Euclidean space and $F^{-1}(x)$ are hyperplanes for $x \in F^{-1}([0, \delta(n)r])$. Since in that situation the $(\operatorname{grad} F)$ -flow are straight lines perpendicular to $F^{-1}(x)$ and $l = \operatorname{dist}(x, x')$. By (3.4) we can choose $\rho(n, r) = \frac{\delta(n)r}{8}$.

Roughly, the conditions that $geo(M) \ge 1$ (our additional assumption) and $||II_{\partial U^n}|| \le c(n)r^{-1}$ ((3.3)) imply that by multiplying the metric by a large number one is able to reduce the general case to the above trivial situation.

Now we proceed by contradiction. Assuming the opposite, we then find a sequence of the quadrupla $(M_i, U_i, g_i, B_{1/i}(x_i))$ which satisfies the conditions:

- 1) (M_i, U_i, g_i) satisfies the conditions of Lemma 15,
- 2) $B_{1/i}(x_i) \cap \partial U^n$ has at least two components $(x \in \partial U_i)$

Rescaling the metric g_i by i, we actually have the sequence $(M_i, U_i, i \cdot g_i, x_i)$ satisfying:

- 1') $|K(M_i)| \to 0$, $InjRad(M_i) \to \infty$ and $||II_{\partial U_i}|| \to 0$.
- 2') $B_1(x_i) \cap \partial U_i$ has at least two components $(x \in \partial U_i)$

Note that for sufficiently large i, (3.5) becomes

$$2 \ll l_i. \tag{3.6}$$

Consider the pointed Hausdorff limit (M_0, x_0) of (M_i, x_i) and $(\partial U_0, x_0)$ of $(\partial U_i, x_i)$ respectively. From 1') we see that M_0 is Euclidean space and ∂U_0 is a hyperplane in M_0 . Then (3.6) implies that $B_1(x_0) \cap \partial U_0 = \emptyset$. This contradicts 2').

Now we consider M in general, i.e., we do not have $geo(M) \geq 1$. For any $x \in \partial U^n$, consider the tangent space at x, $T_x(M)$ which equipt with the pull-back metric \tilde{g}' under the exponential map, $exp_x : T_x(M) \to M$. Let $B_{\frac{\pi}{2}}(0)$ be the metric ball at $0 \in T_x(M)$ of redius $\frac{\pi}{2}$. Then $(B_{\pi}(0), \tilde{g}')$ has bounded geometry, i.e., $\forall z \in B_{\frac{\pi}{2}}(0)$, $InjRad(T_x(M), z) \geq 1$. By lifting $B_{\frac{\pi}{4}}(x) \cap \partial U^n$ to $B_{\frac{\pi}{2}}(0)$, applying previous result we then obtain the desired constant $\rho(n, r)$.

Lemma 16 Under the same condition as in Theorem 12. Then there is a constant $\sigma(n,r) > 0$ depending only on n and r, such that each component of $B_{\sigma}(x) \cap \partial U^n$ has the diameter, diams, less than 1.

Proof. The proof of Lemma 16 is essentially the same as the proof of Lemma 15. So we omit the details. We first observe that Lemma 16 is true for M a Euclidean space and ∂U^n a hyperplane. By rescalling the metric of M^n by a sufficiently large number we may assume M^n and ∂U^n are almost as in above situation. Therefore Lemma 16 is true in general (Otherwise

we would get a contradiction).

Q.E.D

Lemma 17 Let M^n be a complete manifolds with $Ricc_{M^n} \geq 1$. For D > 0 and r > 0, there is natural number N(n, r, D) depending on n, r and D, so that if U is a submanifold with boundary such that if $diam(U) \leq D$, then ∂U can be covered by N(n, r, D) balls of radius r with centers in ∂U^n .

Proof. See the Covering Lemma in [CG1]. Q.E.D

Proof of Theorem F. First we take $\epsilon(n,r) = \min\{\rho(n,r), \sigma(n,r)\}$ where $\rho(n,r)$ and $\sigma(n,r)$ are as in Lemma 15 and 16 respectively. Thus we have

- 1) $B(x_i) \cap \partial U^n$ is connected (Lemma 15),
- 2) $diam_s(B(x_i) \cap \partial U^n) \leq 1$ (Lemma 16).

Since $diam(T_1(X)) \leq D$, we can find at most N(n, r, D) metric balls of radius $\epsilon(n, r)$, $B(x_1), ..., B(x_{N(n,r,D)})$ ($x_i \in \partial U^n$) which covers ∂U^n (Lemma 17). Bombining with 1) and 2), we deduce

$$diam_s(\partial U^n) \leq \sum_{i=1}^{N(n,r,D)} diam_s(B(x_i) \cap \partial U^n) = N(n,r,D).$$

Now the proof is complete.

Q.E.D.

3.2 Some Progress on Conjecture II

Based on the results in this thesis we have made some progress in proving Conjecture II for 4-manifolds (see Introduction). In fact, using Theorem A, Theorem E and Theorem 14 we can prove the following result:

Let (M,g) be an oriented complete 4-manifold, $|K_g| \leq 1$, $Vol(M,g) < \infty$ and $\widetilde{geo}_{\infty}(M) \geq 1$. Suppose M has finite diameter at infinity. Then the geometric signature, defined by

$$\sigma_{(2)}(M) = \int_M P_L(\Omega)$$

is a rational number.

Note that there are 4-manifolds of infinite topological type which satisfy the above conditions. Also if one can eliminite the assumption that M has finite diameter at infinity, then one would prove Conjecture II for 4-manifolds. Here we only give the outline of the proof. More detailed argument will appear elsewhere.

Sketch of Proof. Let us start with the general situation. Let M be a 4k-complete manifold, $|K| \leq 1$, $Vol(M^n) < \infty$. Consider the geometric signature $\sigma(M,g)$ of (M,g), defined by

$$\sigma(M,g) = \int_M P_L(\Omega)$$

Suppose M has BCG in a neighborhood of infinity, $\widetilde{geo}_{\infty}(M,g) \geq 1$. As we have already explained in Introduction, the above integal, also denoted by $\sigma_{(2)}(M)$, is a proper homotopy invariant.

Taking a good choppings $\{M_j\}$ of M and then applying the Atiyah-Patodi-Singer index formula ([APS]) to $\{M_j\}$, one relates the $\sigma_{(2)}(M)$ to

the asymptotic behavior of the sequence $\eta(\partial M_j, g_j)$ (g_j the induced metric on ∂M_j).

$$\sigma_{(2)}(M) = \int_{M} P_{L}(\Omega)$$

$$= \lim_{i \to \infty} \int_{M_{i}} P_{L}(\Omega)$$

$$= \lim_{i \to \infty} (\sigma(M_{i}) - \eta(\partial M_{i}, g_{i}) - II_{\sigma}(\partial M_{i}, g_{i}))$$

$$= \lim_{i \to \infty} (\sigma(M_{i}) - \eta(\partial M_{i}, g_{i}))$$

$$(3.7)$$

where $II_{\sigma}(\partial M_j, g_i)$ are certain locally computable expression involving the second fundamental form of ∂M_j . Note that it follows from Theorem 12 that $\lim_{j\to\infty} II_{\sigma}(\partial M_i, g_j) = 0$. Since we are interested in the rationality of $\sigma_{(2)}(M)$ (Conjecture II), we take for convience $mod\ Z$ on both sides of (3.7),

$$\sigma_{(2)}(M) \mod Z = \lim_{i \to \infty} (\eta(\partial M_i, g_i) \mod Z). \tag{3.8}$$

To prove Conjecture II one needs to study the asymptotic behavior of the sequence $\{\eta(\partial M_j, g_j) \mod Z\}$. Here the difficulties are: (a) there are not obvious relations among ∂M_i in general; (b) computation for $\eta(\partial M_j, g_j)$.

Now consider the case when k = 1. In order to reduce the difficulty (a) and (b), we suppose the 4-manifold M has finite diameter at infinity, i.e., there is a constant D > 0 and $p \in M$ such that $\sup_{r>0} \{\sum_{\alpha} diam((T_1(\partial B_r(p)))_{\alpha})\} \le D$. We claim that there exists a good choppings $\{M_i\}$ satisfying the following conditions:

- 1) there exists a positive integer K(D) depending only on D, such that each ∂M_i has at most components. We number its components as $(\partial M_i)_1, ..., (\partial M_i)_K$ where we allow that some components are empty set.
 - 2) the sequence of the jth-component $\{(\partial M_i)_j\}$ converges to a metric

space X_j under the Hausdorff distance, $\lim_{i\to\infty} dist_H((\partial M_i)_j, X_j) = 0$. Note that X_j is a topological manifold of dimension less or equals to 2.

1) can be seen from the proof of Theorem F, and 2) can be proved by using Gromov's precompactness theorem and a simple induction argument. Since

$$\int_{-1}^{1} \eta(\partial M_i, g_i) \mod Z = \sum_{j=1}^{K(D)} \eta((\partial M_i)_j, g_{i,j}) \mod Z,$$

it is enough to prove rationality of (3.8) for the case when K(D) = 1.

We split the rest proof according to dim(X) (note that $X = X_1$).

Case I. dim(X) = 0 or 2 or $X \approx S^1$.

We can show that, in this case, $\pi_1(\partial M_i)$ is infinite. We also observe that $(\partial M_i, g_i)$ has BCG. Here we use the condition that $||II_{\partial M_i}||$ is bounded and the Guass Lemma. The consequence of these two facts is that each ∂M_i admits an injective F-structure for i sufficiently large (Theorem B), i.e., $\eta_{(2)}(\partial M_i)$ makes sense. Thus, as we has already seen in §1.5,

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \eta(\partial M_i, g_i) = \lim_{i \to \infty} \eta_{(2)}(\partial M_i). \tag{3.9}$$

From (3.8) and (3.9), we have

$$\sigma_{(2)}(M) = \lim_{i \to \infty} \eta_{(2)}(\partial M_i) \mod Z \tag{3.10}$$

From $diam(\partial M_i, g_i) \leq D$ we conclude that $\{\eta_{(2)}(\partial M_i) \mod Z\}$ is a finite set (Theorem E). From (3.10) and Theorem A, we obtain the rationality of $\sigma_{(2)}(M)$.

Case II. $X \approx I$ where I is an interval.

We then identify that each ∂M_i is a lens space for i sufficiently large (see the proof of Proposition 5).

First, by applying Theorem 1 one construct, depending on g, a positive rank T-structure \mathcal{F}_g outside some compact subset of M. We can assume that our previous good chopping is compactible with \mathcal{F}_g and the metric g is invariant ([CFG]). Since ∂M_i converges to an interval, we observe the following:

- 3) \mathcal{F}_g is pure T^2 -structure in a neighborhood of ∂M_i . Let \mathcal{O}_i be a singular S^1 -orbit on ∂M_i . Then the singular set Z of \mathcal{F}_g has non-empty intersection with ∂M_i as i sufficinetly large.
- 4) the diameters of the above T^2 -orbits around \mathcal{O}_i converges to zero as $i \to \infty$.

By studying the structure of the singularity Z and using the result in [CFG], we can show that in this case the T^2 orbits of \mathcal{F}_g which are near to Z have a difinite size diameters (note that here we need the condition BCG). This contracts 4).

Bibliography

- [APS] M.F. Atiyah; V.K. Patodi; I.M. Singer, Spectral asymmetry and Riemannian geometry I, II, Proc. Comb. Phil. Soc., 77 (1975), 43-69. Bull London Math. Soc., 5(1973), 229-234.
- [Bo] R. Bott, Vector fields and characteristic numbers, Mich. Math. J 14(1967), 231-244.
- [BC] P. Brum; J. Cheeger, Infinitesimal isometries and Pontrjagin numbers, Topology, 8(1969), 173-193.
- [BGS] W. Ballmann; M. Gromov: V. Schroeder, Manifolds of non positive curvature, Birkhäuser, Boston 1985.
- [Br] Breden, Introduction to compact tranformation groups . Academic Press.
- [Ch] J. Cheeger, Finiteness theorems for Riemannian manifolds, Am.
 J. Math. 92 (1970), 61-75.
- [CG1] J. Cheeger; M. Gromov, On the characteristic numbers of complete manifolds of bounded curvature and finite volume, H. E. Rauch

- Mem Vol I(Chavel and H. Farkas, Eds), Springger, Berlin, 1985, 115-154.
- [CG2] J. Cheeger; M. Gromov, Bounds on the von Neumann dimension of L₂-cohomology and the Gauss-Bonnet theorem for open manifolds,
 J. Diff. Geometry 21(1985), 1-34.
- [CG3] J. Cheeger; M. Gromov, Collapsing Riemannian manifolds while keeping their curvature bound. I, J. Diff. Geometry, 23(1986), 309-346.
- [CG4] J. Cheeger; M. Gromov, Collapsing Riemannian manifolds while keeping their curvature bound. II, preprint.
- [CG5] J. Cheeger; M. Gromov, Chopping Riemannian manifolds, preprint
- [CFG] J. Cheeger; K. Fukaya; M. Gromov, in preparation.
- [CR1] P.E. Conner; P. Raymond, Injective actions of toral groups, Topology 10(1971), 283-296.
- [CR2] P.E. Conner; P. Raymond, Holomorphic Seifert fiberings, Proc. 2nd Conference on Transformation groups. Part II. Springer LN in Math, Vol 299, 1971, 124-204.
- [Fu1] K. Fukaya, Collapsing Riemannian manifolds to ones of lower dimensions, J. Diff. Geometry, 25(1987), 139-156.

- [Fu2] K. Fukaya, A boundary of the set of Riemannian manifolds with bounded curvatures and diameters, J. Diff. Geometry, 28(1988), 1-21.
- [Fu3] K. Fukaya, Collapsing Riemannian manifolds to ones of lower dimensions II, preprint
- [Fu4] K. Fukaya, Hausdorff convergence of Riemannian manifolds and its applications, preprint
- [Gr1] M. Gromov, Almost flat manifolds, J. Diff. Geometry, 13(1978), 231-241.
- [Gr2] M. Gromov, Volume and bounded cohomology, I.H.E.S. Pub. Math. 56(1983), 213-307.
- [GPL] M. Gromov; J. Lafontaine; P. Pansu, Structures metriques pour les varietes riemannienes, Cedic-Fernand Nathan Paris (1981)
- [KLR] K.B. Lee; F. Raymond, The role of Seifert fiber spaces in transformation groups.
- [LS] R.C.Lyndon; Schupp, Combinatorial group theory.
- [Ne] W. Neumann, 3-dimensional G-manifolds with 2-dimensional orbits.
- [Or] P. Orlick; Seifert manifolds., Springer LN in Math, Vol 291.
- [RV] F. Raymond; Vasquez, 3-manifolds whose universal covering are lie groups

- [Sc] P. Scott, The geometries of 3-manifolds, Bull. London Math. Soc, 15(1983), 401-487.
- [Se] H. Seifert, Topologie dreidimensionaler gefaserter Räume, Acta math, 60(1933), 147-238.
- [So] T. Soma, The Gromov invariant for links, Invent, 64(1984), 445-454.
- [Th] W. P. Thurston, The geometry and topology of 3-manifolds, Lecture notes, Princeton 1977.
- [Wa1] F.Waldhausen, Eine klasse von 3-dimensionalen mannigfalkeitigten. I, Inv. Math. 3(1967), 308-333.
- [Wa2] F.Waldhausen, Eine klasse von 3-dimensionalen mannigfaltigkeiten. II Inv. Math. 4(1967), 87-117.
- [Ya] D. Yang, A residue theorem for secondary invariants of collapsing Riemannian manifolds, Ph.D thesis.